# CHEMICAL REVIEWS

Subscriber access provided by V. Vernadsky | National Library of Ukraine

## **Composites of Intrinsically Conducting Polymers as Sensing Nanomaterials**

David W. Hatchett, and Mira Josowicz *Chem. Rev.*, **2008**, 108 (2), 746-769 • DOI: 10.1021/cr068112h Downloaded from http://pubs.acs.org on December **24**, **2008** 

#### **More About This Article**

Additional resources and features associated with this article are available within the HTML version:

- Supporting Information
- Links to the 4 articles that cite this article, as of the time of this article download
- Access to high resolution figures
- Links to articles and content related to this article
- Copyright permission to reproduce figures and/or text from this article

View the Full Text HTML



### **Composites of Intrinsically Conducting Polymers as Sensing Nanomaterials**

David W. Hatchett<sup>†</sup> and Mira Josowicz<sup>\*,‡</sup>

Department of Chemistry, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Nevada 89154-4003 and Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, Georgia 30332-0400

Received August 10, 2007

#### Contents

1. Introduction	746
2. Properties and Limitations of Composite	747
Components	
2.1. Intrinsically Conducting Polymers (ICP)	747
2.2. Carbon-Structured Materials	749
2.3. Metals and Metal Oxides	750
2.4. Phthalocyanines and Related Complexes	752
2.5. Biologically Active Materials	752
3. Advances in Composites of Inherently	753
Conducting Polymers	
3.1. Composites with Nonconducting Polymers	753
3.1.1. Composites with Hydrophilic Polymers	754
3.1.2. Composites with Hydrophobic Polymers	754
3.1.3. Multicomponent Composites	755
3.2. Composites with Carbon Black and Carbon Nanotubes	756
3.3. Composites with Metallic or Metal-Containing Components	758
3.3.1. Gold	758
3.3.2. Platinum and Palladium Metal	760
3.3.3. Copper and Nickel Metal	761
3.3.4. Metal Oxides	762
3.3.5. Metal Phthalocyanines and Porphyrins	762
3.4. Composites with Biological Materials	763
4. Conclusions and Outlook	764
5. Acknowledgments	765
6. References	765

#### 1. Introduction

Composites of intrinsically conducting polymers (ICPs) are materials that utilize conjugated polymers and at least one secondary component that can be inorganic or organic materials or biologically active species. The goal is to produce a new composite material that has distinct properties that were not observed in the individual components. This may include either new or improved chemical properties that can be exploited for chemical or biological sensing. For example, adding carbon nanotubes tends to drastically influence the electrical and thermal conductivity of ICPs. A secondary aspect concerns the stabilization of the secondary component in the polymer matrix. Enhanced optical, electri-

cal, or mechanical properties such as stiffness and strength are common. In some cases, the physical and chemical properties of the secondary component are much different after composite formation. For the purpose of this review we will primarily focus on the ICPs such as polyaniline, polypyrrole, and polythiophene and their derivatives. The resonance-stabilized structure of ICPs allows, for example, incorporation of ions, nanoparticles, or nanowires of metals, metal oxides, carbon, or molecular species such as metallophthalocyanines or biologically active components such as enzymes, antibodies, and antigens.<sup>1</sup> In some cases, the ICP will simply act as a template for the incorporation of the secondary component. In that case, the secondary component will impart the chemical properties required for chemical sensing. In other cases the materials are linked through electrostatic interactions which influence the electronic and physical properties of the materials used to prepare the composite.

The combined physical/chemical properties of the components are exploited for chemical sensing when the materials are joined. Differences in the properties of composites containing similar components are often tied to the method of preparation. Therefore, preparation methods will be discussed in more detail with respect to the "how" the secondary component is incorporated in the ICPs. The major advantage of ICP composite materials over the ICP alone is based on the increase in active surface area and ability to form good electronic contact between the composite components and the transducer. The parent polymer provides high dispersion and high surface area for the secondary components to be integrated and creates templates for chemical reactions and interactions. The inherent stability and symbiosis between the two components used to create the composite material is often superior to the bulk components alone.

This review is organized as follows. First, we briefly summarize the properties and limitations of the most frequently used materials in chemical and biological sensors. Then different approaches to combine them with ICPs are discussed. The methods have been broadly classified as polymerization, dispersion, redox reactions, and electrostatic interactions. When applicable the strategies used to control the size, shape, and distribution of the secondary component in the composite are emphasized. When relevant the catalytic applications of the composite materials are examined. The advantages of using these composites as sensing material can be expressed with respect to increased surface area, higher numbers of analytical recognition sites, lower detection limits, low resistivity or faster response times, and improved environmental stability. The mechanical properties of the material are often improved which leads to more robust sensors.

<sup>\*</sup> To whom the correspondence should be addressed. Phone: 404-894-4032.

Fax: 404-894-7452. E-mail: mira.josowicz@chemistry.gatech.edu.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> University of Nevada.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> Georgia Ínstitute of Technology.



David W. Hatchett received his B.Sc. degree from California State University, Stanislaus, in 1992. He received his Ph.D. degree from the University of Utah, Salt Lake City, in 1997 for work on the electrochemical formation of sulfide and thiolate monolayers on Ag. Dr. Henry S. White supervised this work. After graduation he accepted a postdoctoral associate position in the Department of Chemistry in Professor Jiri Janata's Group at the Georgia Institute of Technology. His postdoctoral research focused on the sensing properties of polyaniline (PANI) and the acid doping and control of species in conductive polymer membranes. His current research interests are diverse including the chemical and electrochemical synthesis of PANI/metal composites of PANI/Au, PANI/Pt, and PANI/Pd. The primary goal of this research is to produce composite materials with unique sorption, chemical, sensing, and catalytic properties. In addition, composite ion- and gas-selective membranes for chemical sensing applications are examined. His research focuses on the development and testing of gasand ion-sensing materials that can be used to manufacture chemical sensors. Finally, electrochemical characterization of lanthanide and actinide species in room-temperature ionic liquids (RTILs) has been explored. This work examines the potential-mediated separation of species using the large potential window provided by nonaqueous RTIL systems. The range of materials produced and characterization of the materials are examined with respect to defined and diverse applications. His research provides insight into the rational design of materials for chemical sensing, catalysis, ion transport, and sorption processes.

In summary, the aim of the review is to explore a fundamental and technological incentive for ICP composite sensors, the sensing properties, and how molecular ICP composites are made. The behavior of the secondary component relative to the primary component and how the combined properties of the composite improve sensing applications is also examined. The references selected in the text do not reflect the chronology of the advances in the research field within the last 7 years, and we do not claim to present every possible reference for completeness. Rather the references are meant to highlight specific aspects and applications that are important in the synthesis and application of ICP composite to chemical and biosensors.

#### 2. Properties and Limitations of Composite Components

#### 2.1. Intrinsically Conducting Polymers (ICP)

In general, intrinsically conductive polymers (ICPs), also referred to as organic semiconductors, are polymers with a delocalized  $\pi$ -electron system with an "intrinsic" wide band gap that defines their affinity for electrons (work function).<sup>2</sup> They are good candidates for developing chemical or electrochemical sensors for two reasons: (1) The electronic conductivity, related to the redox state (doping level) of a conducting polymer, is modulated by the interaction with various analytes resulting in changes in parameters such as



Mira Josowicz studied chemistry at the Politechnika Slaska, Gliwice, Poland, where she graduated in 1966 in Physical Chemistry. She received her Ph.D. degree from the Technical University in Munich, Germany, in the field of Inorganic Chemistry with Professors Ch. Quentin and H.-P. Fritz. From 1983 to 1986, she was a Feodor-Lynnen-Humboldt postdoctoral research fellow at the University of Utah with Professor J. Janata. After her return to the University of Bundeswehr in Munich, she finished her habilitation in 1992 in the field of chemical sensors. From 1992 to 1997 she was a staff scientist in the Materials and Chemical Sciences Center at the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, Washington. Since 1997 she has been Principal Research Scientist in the School of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Georgia Institute of Technology. Her main research interests include chemical sensors and properties of organic semiconductors.

resistance, current, or electrochemical potential/work function. Since the ICP acts as an electronic transducer, the magnitude and rise of the electrical signal correlates with the type of physical-chemical interaction involved in the signal generation. The interaction with analytes introduces changes in the physicochemical properties resulting from structural reorganization of the polymer chains. These changes are facilitated by an increase or a decrease of the density of charged species through polymer/analyte interaction or hydrogen bonding between the species.<sup>3</sup> (2) They are attractive as sensing layers because they retain processing properties of polymers, lowering manufacturing costs of films, powders, or wires. The processing of ICPs, that are of poly(heterocyclic) types, such as polypyrrole (PPy), polyfuran, polythiophene (PT), poly(p-phenylene vinylene), aromatic poly(azomethine)s, and polyaniline (PANI), from solution or using heat treatment has been reviewed with emphasis on the design of dopant, special catalytic properties, and special optical or spectroscopic properties.<sup>4</sup> Consequently, specific functionality can be added to the ICP matrix by entrapment during the polymerization process.

Charge carriers are introduced into the polymer by doping, which can be accomplished chemically, electrochemically, or optically.<sup>5</sup> For example, polyaniline can be protonated by triflic acid generated by UV photolysis of triphenylsulfonium triflate salt.<sup>6</sup> The strong acid, such as triflic acid or tetrafluoroboric acid, lowers both the work function and increases the conductivity of polyaniline (PANI) base according to the known proton doping mechanism. In contrast, addition of triflate salts to the emeraldine base form of PANI in the solid state leads to formation of localized states that do not contribute to the conductivity but lower the work function of the polymer.<sup>7</sup> We call this form of doping charge-transfer doping as opposed to oxidative and proton doping. This distinction has important implications for use of PANI in various types of sensing device structures. When PANI is used as the replacement for the metal in the insulated gate field-effect transistor the value of the work function is critically important because it controls the threshold voltage. Since there is no current passing through the PANI layer in such a device, its conductivity is irrelevant. However, when PANI itself is used as a conductor of electronic current, the type of doping that leads to conductivity changes is important. Moreover, in some devices, such as thin-film transistors, both charge transfer and proton doping play a role in the operational characteristics of the device. Furthermore, the conductivity of ICPs depends on its ability both to transport charge carriers along the polymer backbone and to hop between polymer chains.<sup>8</sup> The work function of the ICP is defined by its redox state and the basis for modulation of optical transitions and ionization potential.9 The environmental stability of the material is crucial for analytical calibration of the sensor. It has been demonstrated that the functional groups of camphorsulfonic acid used as a dopant for PANI can actually help to fulfill such requirements.<sup>10</sup>

Intrinsically conductive polymers have advantageous morphological and structural properties that are critical to the sensitivity and selectivity of gas or ion sensors. These properties are sensitive to polymerization parameters such as the type of the counterion, supporting electrolyte, and solvent monomer/counterion concentrations. Introduction of subtly different dopant groups into ICPs including variations in doping level results in different conductivities of the material. Upon exposure to gases or analytes the ICPs show significant differences in conductivity responses due to changes in charge mobility and the amount of charge doping in the films. Selectivity of ICPs has been demonstrated through addition of a functional group to the precursor monomer or/and copolymerization to produce different ICP precursors. For example, the sensitivity to alkali-metal ions has been introduced by addition of polyalkyl ether or crown ether functionalized groups to the parent polymer chain. Furthermore, mixing pyridyl-based ligands with the parent polymer produces coordination sites. Introduction of metal ions can introduce conformational changes in the ICP that govern optical or electrochemical signals upon exposure to chemical or biological analytes. When the ICP is polymerized in the presence of a chiral compound, molecular-size specificity can be incorporated in the matrix. All of these possibilities were discussed in much more detail in a previous review by Swager et al.<sup>11</sup> Different synthetic routes and their effect on the gas sensing properties of ICPs have also been the subject of several reviews.<sup>12</sup>

The sensing mechanism, configurations, and factors that affect the performance of gas sensors fabricated using conducting polymers such as polyaniline (PANI), polypyrrole (PPy), and poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) (PEDOT) as the active layers have been reviewed by others within this issue of Chemical Reviews. In brief, the interactions of ICPs with ambient gases can be monitored using the membrane as a chemical resistor (conductivity changes), diode or field effect transistor (work function changes), optical waveguide (absorption changes), or surface acoustic devices (mass change). Since changes in work function are based on formation of a charge-transfer complex between the gaseous species and the conducting polymer,<sup>13</sup> methods for a stable and adjustable primary doping of the ICPs are necessary.<sup>14</sup> Electron donation or withdrawal by the analyte vapors leads to conductivity changes in the sensor films. A systematic study of the steadystate electrical resistance responses of alkyl-substituted polypyrroles (PPy) and a polyalkylterthiophene (PAT) doped

with a variety of counter anions to volatile organic chemicals (VOC) comprising alcohols, esters, aromatics, and alkanes revealed a linear correlation between vapor concentration producing a fixed amplitude of sensor response with respect to analyte-saturated vapor pressures.<sup>15</sup> It has also been observed that the sensor sensitivity toward an analyte can be correlated with the differences in analyte polarity. Changing the dopant ion in the conducting polymer has a large effect on absolute sensor sensitivity but does not markedly affect the relative sensitivity toward different analyte functional groups. Humidified carrier gas depresses sensor sensitivity, suggesting competition between water and gas molecules. Polymer swelling based on humidity also implies that the pathways become saturated with water, which would then change the diffusion rate of the gases into the polymer matrix. Activity coefficients for solutions of organic vapors dissolved in conducting polymers are not available in the literature. Overall, a nonspecific partition model of conducting polymer interaction with organic vapors is proposed in which, for a given analyte functional group, the electrical resistance transduction mechanism is insensitive to large variations in analyte size and shape.

Furthermore, conducting polymers are useful as both ionto-electron transducers and sensing membranes in solid-state ion-selective electrodes. However, the influence of ambient media such as oxygen, acids, bases, redox reactants, water, and organic vapors on changes of the polymer structure, composition, and degradation should not be overlooked. The benefits and disadvantages of such processes for analytical characteristic of polypyrrole-based electrochemical sensors have been reviewed previously.<sup>16</sup>

The physical properties of ICPs can also be a hindrance for certain applications and must be considered when choosing which polymer will be used. For example, in bioelectrochemical applications it is important that the polymer film remains conductive at pH values higher than 4. The conductivity of PANI is reduced as the pH is increased, leading to a decrease in proton doping. However, the conductivity of ICPs such as polythiophene or polypyrrole demonstrates very little pH dependence. In addition, the effect of counterion incorporation into the polymer as a dopant during polymer synthesis or testing on the pH stability of the ICP can also be important.<sup>17</sup>

In some cases the lack of proton or anion doping can be used to create sensor membranes. Specifically, the physical properties of undoped conjugated polymers where the band gap depends on chemical constitution of the conjugated backbone and the nature of the substituents attached to the main chain have been exploited as electroluminescent (diode) sensors. The luminescence generation is caused by excitation that occurs during interaction of the polymer with the analyte.

The wide variety of chemical sensors produced from ICPs demonstrates the diversity of the material. The progress in development of potentiometric sensors based on the use of ICPs within the last 5 years has been reviewed.<sup>18</sup> Optical chemical sensors based on the electrochromic properties of ICPs have also been reviewed in this issue and by others.<sup>19</sup> Although these reviews focus on the sensing properties of ICPs only, incorporation of secondary materials with ICPs to produce composite materials provides another approach for producing diverse sensing materials with higher chemical stability and improved analytical selectivity.

#### 2.2. Carbon-Structured Materials

The chemistry and physics of carbon nanotube (CNT) have been the focus of a large number of studies. The enormous development of the carbon structures in recent years can be attributed to the high electrical conductivity, high chemical stability, and extremely high mechanical strength and modulus. All of these properties can be exploited to develop a new generation of chemical sensors.<sup>20</sup> One significant drawback to the use of CNTs in sensors remains their lack of chemical selectivity. Selectivity is minimal due to the fact that the response mechanism is based on the electron affinity and density ratio of the target analyte relative to the CNT transducer. Therefore, formation of ICP/CNT composites is important and functionalization is critical for use in chemical sensors.

CNTs are used in composites because they can be treated as inorganic or organic reagents based on their inherent "graphene" structure. They have electron-transport properties consistent with  $\pi$ -conjugated systems with metallic or semiconducting properties depending on their diameter.<sup>21</sup> The rolled graphene structure forms single-walled nanotubes (SWNT) that can be then treated as one-dimensional conductors.<sup>22</sup> They have great potential for conductance- and capacitance-based sensors because they are sensitive to changes in dipole moment and polarizability of the adsorbate when charge-transfer complexes are formed between adsorbates and the SWNT.<sup>23</sup> The difficulty associated with the assembly of SWNTs has led to the use of SWNT networks that contain a large number of randomly positioned nanotubes (bundles). Consequently, the properties of SWNT devices depend on the position, number, and electronic type of its constituent nanotubes. A wide number of synthetic conditions are currently used to produce SWNTs, but none of the parameters discussed can currently be controlled with a high degree of reproducibility. The key to the electronic quality of random networks of SWNTs is the electrical contact that is formed between intersecting structures. SWNTs adhere to surfaces such as SiO2 via van der Waals forces that deform the SWNTs at the point of intersection and pull them closer together. The proximity of the two structures increases the probability of internanotube tunneling.

Multiwalled nanotubes (MWNT) are based on a concentric tube within a tube and can have either metallic or semiconducting characteristics.<sup>24</sup> These electrical hybrid tubes can be expected to behave as metallic nanowires due to the average current density across the characteristically different walls. In addition, wall-to-wall conduction is possible within the MWNT, allowing the properties of the metallic MWNTs tubes to dominate charge transport. Some researchers have reported that MWNTs behave as diffusive conductors.<sup>25</sup>

The principles for CNT gas sensors for the detection and quantitation of gases are based on changes in electrical properties induced by charge transfer with the gas molecules or changes in the adsorption.<sup>26</sup> The ability of the adsorbate to transfer charge depends on the electron affinity of the adsorbate with respect to the CNT. For example, the conductivity of the semiconducting SWCNT upon exposure to 200 ppm of NO<sub>2</sub> (electron-withdrawing gas) changed within 10 s, up to 3 orders of magnitude. In contrast, the conductivity decreases by 2 orders of magnitude upon exposure to 1% NH<sub>3</sub> (electron-acceptor gas) within 2 min. In principle, the response mechanism can be applied to many other electron-accepting or -donating gases (NO, CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, etc.). However, a major obstacle in manipulating the electron

affinity of CNTs is their limited solubility in solvent. They have a tendency to "rope up" or aggregate in solutions rather than dispersing uniformly.<sup>27</sup>

Aggregation of CNTs is typically minimized through chemical modification. For example, introduced carboxyl groups enable covalent coupling of molecules through the creation of amide or ester bonds. High solubility in organic solvents can be obtained by covalent or ionic attachment of long-chain aliphatic amines onto the carboxyl groups. The presence of the "modified" carboxyl groups leads to reduction of the van der Waals interactions between the CNTs, allowing separation and further chemical functionalization in aqueous or organic solutions. Functionalization also provides an effective tool to broaden the spectrum of electroanalytical chemical sensing and electrochemical biosensing applications of CNTs through subsequent solution-based chemistry.28 These modifications also allow secondary aspects to be tailored including electronic and mechanical properties.<sup>29</sup> High solubility in water solution was achieved through carboxyl-based coupling of hydrophilic polymers such as poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG).

Use of CNTs as transducers in chemical and physical processes after functionalization is also possible. Functionalization of the CNTs can be conducted in a controlled and selective manner electrochemically, where an active radical is generated from a target reagent present in solution, resulting in polymer formation on the CNT. Attention has been directed also to electron-donor—acceptor molecules such as ferrocene and phthalocyanine because they can act as secondary chemical transducers in electrochemical processes. Finally, functionalization of SWNT with zinc—phthalocyanine (ZnPc-SWNT) results in a photoinduced electron-transfer effect that has potential to be exploited in optical sensors.<sup>30</sup>

Significant progress in interfacing carbon nanotubes with biomolecular materials was made in key areas such as aqueous solubility, chemical and biological functionalization, biocompatibility, and specificity with respect to the electronic sensing properties of proteins.<sup>31</sup> Development of hybrid nanostructures using MWNTs has been realized via adsorption of protonated amino groups that are able to anchor gold nanoparticles using electrostatic interactions. Functional species can then be affixed using the well-known mechanism for thiol sorption at gold surfaces.<sup>32</sup> Recent advances in the asymmetric end functionalization of CNTs, with two different building blocks, allow a variety of materials to be produced. The end groups can be used to control hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity, ion transport through the CNT channels, and photoinduced electron transfer between donors and acceptors. Both approaches show great promise in the rational design and realization of a host of new chemical sensing materials.<sup>33</sup>

Despite the fast response of CNTs to low-vapor-pressure analytes, their long recovery time, extremely high affinity to adsorb oxygen, and complex fabrication process still remain a major drawback to their use as sensing materials. The homogeneity of the materials suffers due to inadequate separation procedures for fractionation based on conductivity, length, and diameter. Therefore, the low reproducibility of the physical properties has a major impact on the quality of the response and understanding of the mechanisms. Furthermore, electrical properties of the contacts often dependent on the geometry and external factors such as ambient light are not well understood. In contrast, the conductivity of most ICPs is lower than that of the CNTs and is well defined.

#### 2.3. Metals and Metal Oxides

Metals in "nano" form exhibit unique properties relative to bulk metals. For example, gold nanoparticles change color and are very good catalysts relative to the bulk material. In addition, nanoparticles act as semiconductors, and their melting temperature decreases.<sup>34</sup> Material clusters of nanoscale diameter often exhibit structural, electronic, spectral, magnetic, and chemical characteristics that are unique to the size regime. These properties cannot be easily extrapolated or deduced through scaling arguments based on the knowledge of these properties at the bulk limit.<sup>35</sup>

A number of approaches have been demonstrated for the synthesis and assembly of metal nanoparticles. Examples include two-phase synthesis of monolayer-protected nanoparticles, stepwise layer-by-layer construction, DNA complimentary binding, polymer- or dendrimer-mediated assembly, and mediator-template assembly.<sup>36</sup> Supported metal particles were also grown in the liquid phase and then deposited on a substrate or formed directly on a surface from a solid-liquid interfacial layer.<sup>37</sup> The particle size can be controlled most efficiently using sol deposition methods or zeolites, where the metal component is introduced and retained within the pores. However, problems can arise with regard to the stabilizing agent that maintains the particle in solution. Stabilization of the particles inside the pores through complexation can also occur. Use of metal carbonyl clusters to produce precursors of the nanoparticles seems to be least efficient regarding the difficulties in size regulation.

Understanding the basis of the fundamental variations in the physical-chemical properties of materials ranging from the molecular level to solid-state chemistry has a great impact on organic, coordination, and solid-state chemistry, catalysis, physics, and materials science. Extensive studies are currently being performed that attempt to correlate the material properties with cluster size. In addition, factors that influence the surface properties with respect to catalysis and optical properties of nanomaterials are of general importance.<sup>38</sup> The published knowledge of the frontiers of cluster science extends rapidly and is a topic of several books and several hundred publications.<sup>39</sup> Topics related to metal clusters at surfaces have included the synthesis and assembly of nanocrystals, theory and spectroscopy of inter- and intraband optical transitions, single-nanocrystal optical and tunneling spectroscopies, electrical transport in nanocrystal assemblies, and the physical and engineering aspects of nanocrystal-based devices.<sup>40</sup> An overview of the structure and resulting electronic and optical properties of metal nanoparticles embedded in insulating polymer matrices with emphasis on preparation of such materials have been reviewed with a focus on thin film deposition techniques.<sup>41</sup> A general introduction to nanoscience based on the synthesis of colloidal nanocomposite particles and their use in making metal-nanoparticles such as silver, iron, ligands shell, inorganic core, oxide shell, semiconductor nanocrystals, nanorods, nanotubes, nanobelts, etc., has also been presented in a review recently.<sup>42</sup>

The long-term stability of these superlattices depends on the method used for their stabilization. It was reported that thiol-derivatized Au clusters are stable in toluene for over a 3-year period. When the particles are allowed to crystallize under ambient conditions, the protective alkanethiol coating slowly degrades. Under these conditions it becomes energetically favorable for the Au particles to minimize their surface energy through aggregation.<sup>43</sup> The larger particles ( $\sim$ 8 nm diameter) destabilize at a much slower rate than the smaller ones ( $\sim$ 4 nm). The reason for the decreased stability of the smaller particles as compared to the larger ones is possibly related to their geometrical structure. It was observed that heating of nanoparticle arrays of different sizes at different rates introduces instability into their array structures. That instability is initiated by the smaller nanoparticles that have a tendency to melt first. By melting a string of nanoparticles it is possible to produce a wire that is 10 times thinner than any wire made using the standard microelectronic process of electron beam lithography. The conductivity can be controlled by altering the size and separation between nanostructures that make the supercrystal.

The influence of size, shape, and surface chemistry of small metal clusters that are dispersed on a support is crucial to understanding their electronic structure.<sup>44</sup> The intrinsic properties of the cluster are nonscalable from bulk analogues for the reduction of the particle size to only a few dozen atoms. For example, gold reduced to clusters of eight atoms on an appropriate support transformed into an efficient, active center for oxidation of CO. The book *Nanocatalysis* recently published by Landmann and Heiz introduces the properties of nanosized materials and focuses on the influence and effect of dimensionality and size in the new and unique chemical properties.<sup>45</sup>

Use of gold nanoparticles in the field of sensing and recognition demonstrates that these nanoparticles are an ideal starting material for this purpose.<sup>46</sup> One of the most attractive features of monolayer-protected clusters (MPC) for sensor application is the ease of introduction of functional groups coupled to biomolecules. For example, thiolated oligonucleotide are attractive for the voltammetric detection of hybridized DNA targets, for encapsulation with conjugated carbohydrates for labeling of specific proteins, or coupled to antibody conjugates for detection of antigens. Furthermore, these MPC systems are good candidates for modeling recognition processes and development of new biomimetic catalysts because they have globular shape and size comparable to many biological molecules including proteins, nucleic acids, enzymes, and many cellular substructures. Some interesting examples of these systems have been recently reviewed.47

Functionalization of gold nanoparticles is also of general importance. For example, a soft shell of organic chains surrounding the Au core can easily be exchanged with different thiols present in solution. The exchange allows introduction of the desired (sensitive) functionalized thiols using a reaction that has been termed "place-exchange reactions".48 The "place-exchange reaction" is the macroscopic consequence of the dynamic self-assembled nature of the protective monolayer. Studies of the mechanism of the "place-exchange reaction" are still not conclusive, but the reported data suggest that an associative-dissociative process takes place. These processes suggest that the core Au particles may be converted to functional species with designed chemical structure and reactivity. More importantly, they provide the ability to tailor selectivity of the surface through thiolate bonding and exchange.

Bimetallic nanoparticles (bi-MNPs) containing two metals are of great interest since they can exhibit catalytic, electronic, and optical properties distinct from the corresponding monometallic nanoparticles. A number of approaches have been demonstrated for the synthesis and assembly of bimetallic or trimetallic nanoparticles.<sup>49</sup> More recently, the optical,<sup>50</sup> magnetic,<sup>51</sup> and catalytic properties of multicomponent metal particles have been examined.<sup>52</sup> For example, the composition of Au/Ag alloy nanoparticles can be varied by changing the salt ratio used during the bimetallic particle synthesis. The different mole ratios of metals both in and on the bimetallic cores has been utilized to manipulate colors and surface plasmon resonance bands.<sup>53</sup> The interaction of the bimetal with target analytes changes surface plasmon resonance and can be used in developing sensors. Stable magnetization reversal transitions at room temperature of Pt/Fe alloy particles as small as 4 nm has also been achieved.<sup>54</sup> The materials can act as electrocatalyst for methanol oxidation<sup>55</sup> and oxygen reduction.<sup>56</sup> Whereas the synthesis of the nanoparticles assembly has been studied in detail, the interparticle distance of the multicomponent nanocrystal surfaces is not fully understood. It has been reported that manipulation of the core composition and linker chain length could provide new opportunities for exploiting binary nanoparticle-structured sensing and catalytic properties.57

Metal oxides exhibit electrical behavior that can vary from electrically insulating (MgO, and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), wide-band semiconductor (TiO<sub>2</sub>, SnO<sub>2</sub>, ZnO, Ti<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), to metal-like (V<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, ReO<sub>3</sub>, RuO<sub>2</sub>) behavior. Some oxides have several stable oxidation states that are very important in surface chemistry. The oxidation state can control the types of defect that may be formed and the chemisorption that takes place at their surface when they are used as a sensing layer. Usually the process of electron exchange between the conductance band of metal oxides and the adsorbed species is fast. However, the chemisorption process of gases is governed by both surface and bulk properties, which can be slow for sorption and desorption.

Reduction of the bulk surface to nanometer or micrometer size is an approach for influencing both the electronic and sensing properties of the metal oxides. The identification and control of structural features of metal oxide cluster size are prerequisite for preservation of its electronic, optical, or magnetic properties. The formulation conditions, time, and temperature can be used to form nanocrystals, nanorods, nanowires, or even nanoparticles with controllable sizes. Classical sol-gel synthesis can be used to control parameters including the diameter and aspect ratio based on the hydrolysis and condensation of metal-halide or -alkoxide precursors in aqueous solution.<sup>58</sup> The reported CO gas sensing of single-crystalline one-dimensional (1-D) SnO<sub>2</sub> nanocrystals (rod, wire) with a controllable size indicates that the sensitivity can be correlated with the specific surface area of the nanocrystals.<sup>59</sup> In order to improve the crystalline arrangement of very small particles, the nonaqueous solution, halide, and surfactant-free synthesis routes were used to produce SnO<sub>2</sub>, In<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Nb<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, and perovskite nanopowders.<sup>60</sup> The oxides are in the form of nanostructured powders that are composed of single crystallites with minimal aggregation and an average size of 2-20 nm.<sup>61</sup> Growth of 1-D oxide nanomaterials such as ZnO, SnO<sub>2</sub>, In<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, SiO<sub>1</sub>, MgO, and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> with controlled microstructured and size using chemical vapor transport and condensation systems has been reviewed.<sup>62</sup> Porous networks of metal oxides provide high surface area relative to bulk structures. In many cases the void geometry afforded by the structure of the material provides enhanced uptake of species relative to the twodimensional bulk surface.<sup>63</sup> The sensitivity of any device is enhanced due to the increased number of interaction sites associated with the three-dimensional structure.

Finally, the chemical and physical properties of nanostructured materials can be much different than those observed for the bulk materials. The conductivity of arrays of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanotubes was reported to be approximately 9 orders higher that of bulk TiO<sub>2</sub> surfaces.<sup>64</sup> The enhanced conductivity was explained in terms of increased surface area, defined stoichiometry, and a greater level of crystallinity than in multigranular oxides. These materials showed potential for reducing the instability associated with percolation or hopping conduction. It is possible to envision that chemical sensitivity will be greatly influenced by the chemistry taking place at the surface since for most semiconductor oxides nanowires the Debye length (measure of field penetration into the bulk) is comparable to the radius of the wire. Furthermore, the increased electron and hole diffusion rate to the surface of a nanostructure allows the analyte to be rapidly photodesorbed from the surface even at room temperature. This implies that surface photoinduced redox reactions occur rapidly and interfacial charge-transfer rates are not limiting. Use of photoinduced desorption of a sorbed analyte for rapid detection is conceivable. Photoassisted desorption will increase the conductance of the nanowire, providing signal transduction for the sensor. Therefore, nanostructures of metal oxides show promise in improving the efficiency of electrochemical and optical sensing devices, encompassing a broad range of applications.

Studies have shown that  $TiO_2$  nanotubes fabricated by electrochemical anodic oxidation exhibit a highly ordered structural morphology that enhances the photocurrent and photocatalytic behavior relative to  $TiO_2$  nanoparticle films prepared by the regular sol-gel methods.<sup>65</sup> In addition, incorporation of  $SnO_2$  (2.5 nm particles) with  $TiO_2$  (25 nm) showed an enhancement (1.5 times) in the photocatalytic activity compared to the pure  $TiO_2$  for decomposition of gaseous 2-propanol and evolution of  $CO_2$ .<sup>66</sup> Although the role of dimension, morphology, and composition is clearly identified in the study, the overall recombination rate between electrons and holes is considered to be retarded by trapping the photoexcited electrons from the conduction band of  $TiO_2$ by the dopant species (e.g.,  $SnO_2$ ).

In recent years it has become clear that the reactivities and thermodynamics of small transition-metal oxides clusters exhibit many fascinating and unique properties. Reactions and thermochemistry of small transition-metal cluster ions demonstrate that quantitative thermodynamic information concerning the stability and reactivity of small transitionmetal clusters in the gas-phase provides an understanding of the their function as catalysts at the molecular level, which is applicable to the bulk-phase limit.<sup>67</sup> The role of the catalyst in chemical sensor applications is to lower the reaction barrier in metal oxides based on weakening the O–O bond through charge transfer.<sup>68</sup> A second possibility is to use systems that contain O atoms without the O–O bonds. The reactivity of transition-metal oxides with oxygen atoms bound only to the transition metal remains largely unstudied.<sup>69</sup>

The molecular understanding of environmental catalysis of metal oxide clusters and their reactions has been the subject of a review.<sup>70</sup> Newer investigations show how particular size-selected clusters of  $Fe_2O_3$  can become a potential candidate for promoting NO reduction and CO oxidation. The systems may even become dual-task self-

regulating systems for conversion of CO to CO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>71</sup> Unlike the bulk metal oxide system, occupation of different MO orbitals is possible with small clusters, resulting in different ionic charge states. The combined theoretical and experimental study of  $FeO_3^{\pm}$  with CO reveals that cation clusters are more efficient in lowering reaction barriers and facilitate catalytic conversion of CO to CO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>72</sup> The importance of d-orbital aromaticity has recently become evident in metal oxide clusters,  $[M_3O_9]^-$  and  $[M_3O_9]^{2-}$  (M = Mo, W). They are unique in that they involve a single fully delocalized metal-metal bond and may exhibit novel chemical, electrochemical, and catalytic properties.<sup>73</sup> More recently it has become clear that the cluster activity depends on the number of atoms, geometrical structure, and sorption site at which adsorption of the gas participates.<sup>74</sup> Quite apart from any practical application, studies of the reaction kinetics of metal clusters with small molecules have demonstrated dramatic cluster size dependence of reaction rate constants.75 An understanding of the properties of metal oxides as a function of size, geometry, and reactivity is important if these materials are to be incorporated into polymers for sensor applications. The composites formed from these materials may be much different that the individual materials.

Growth of a crystal also coincides with advances in understanding intermolecular interactions and supramolecular chemistry.<sup>76</sup> Several aspects of solid-state chemistry are of increasing relevance to chemical sensors such as the application of cooperative binding to the differentiation of similar analytes.<sup>77</sup> Formation of metal oxide clusters with surface-adsorbed reactive organic groups has been achieved. Preparation of an interesting new type of inorganic—organic hybrid polymer with unique properties is also possible.<sup>78</sup> In summary, metal oxides provide both catalysts and catalytic supports that if used with ICPs may produce composite materials with unique sensing properties. However, the catalytic and reactive properties must be understood and exploited to develop selective chemical sensors which are targeted to specific analyte detection.

#### 2.4. Phthalocyanines and Related Complexes

Pyrrole-based macrocycles such as metalloporphyrins have a similar structure to phthalocyanines (Pc). Porphyrins, which are less stable to degradation than phthalocyanines, have been used to mimic naturally occurring metal porphyrin complexes (e.g., cytochrome c, hemoglobin, and myoglobin). Specifically, metallophthalocyanines have been of interest for their high thermal stability and well-defined redox activity in sensing applications.<sup>79</sup> These compounds are organic p-type semiconductors formed from three distinct components: the macrocycle, the peripheral substituent, and the metal ion coordinated in the core of the molecule.<sup>80</sup> Each of these components contributes to the total selectivity of a sensing layer via manipulation of the metal center and substitution of functional groups on the organic ring.<sup>81</sup> Their ability to coordinate with almost all the metals and some nonmetals present in the Periodic Table results in a huge number of sensors that have been prepared using the same macrocycle. In solid-state gas sensors the conduction mechanism and molecular interaction contribute to the signal through either binding of the analyte to metal coordination sites or competition with O<sub>2</sub> for occupied metal surface sites. There is also a possibility of weak binding (physisorption) to the organic region of the phthalocyanine molecule for noncoordinating analytes, which may be governed by weak hydrophobic or

charge-transfer interactions. The later interaction is related to formation of charge-transfer complexes through coordination of the target,  $O_2$  ( $\pi$ -electron acceptor), to metallophthalocvanine (MPc) metal centers at the air/phthalocvanine interface. The interaction leads to formation of oxidized MPc<sup>+</sup> complex where the positive charge is delocalized over the phthalocyanine ring and reduces  $O_2^-$  species with injection of hole charge carriers into the bulk solid.<sup>82</sup> Resistive sensing concentrates mostly on p-type metallophthalocyanine thin films interacting with oxidizing gases, such as ozone and NO<sub>r</sub>. The sensing mechanism is based on the gas interacting with the MPc, resulting in injection of holes and an increase in the current. Interaction of phthalocyanines with reducing gases, such as NH<sub>3</sub>, has the opposite effect.<sup>83</sup> The advantage of these materials is that phthalocyanine films can be utilized for gas sensing at temperatures much lower than comparable metal oxide sensors.84

An alternative method for detection involves use of the materials as electrocatalysts. For example, detection of nitric oxide in biological systems on gold electrode and determination of nitrite in real samples using polymeric nickel tetraaminophthalocyanine (p-NiTAPc) film coated glassy carbon electrode has been achieved using the materials as electrocatalysts.<sup>85</sup> In addition, detection of NO in biological samples in the presence of interfering ions such as NO<sub>2</sub> and neurotransmitters has been achieved by immobilization of the porphyrin on the electrodes using thiolate coordination chemistry.86 For good catalytic activity the catalyst must lower the oxidation and/or reduction potentials of the species. Therefore, an important factor in the catalytic activity of immobilized MPc complexes is identification of the oxidation or reduction site. MPc complexes with metal-based oxidation processes are expected to show better catalytic activity toward oxidation or reduction of analytes than ring-based processes. However, this fact has not been proven to be a general rule. It was found that in some cases the monomeric species of MPc are better catalysts than the aggregated complex. The catalytic activity depends on the thickness, conductivity, and method of immobilization of the film. In order to improve the selectivity of the sensor, Nafion has been included to help eliminate interference from other ions. However, Nafion tends to reduce the sensitivity of the sensor.

In summary, MPc should act as a good catalyst by enhancing sensitivity, be stable for prolonged use at different temperatures and pH values, and offer good selectivity for analyte over its oxidation products and other interfering species. One can therefore envision that incorporation of MPc into an ICP may optimize the sensing properties due to the nanostructure of the polymer. The improved nanostructured architecture of thin composite films may enhance interactions between the components and the conducting substrate and maximize diffusion of the guest molecules into the film.

#### 2.5. Biologically Active Materials

The field of bioanalytical chemistry continues to expand encompassing biologically active materials, which utilize enzymes, proteins (amino acids), DNA, antibodies, and antigens. A large portion of the biosensors developed thus far have utilized enzymatic reactions. These systems use enzymes that are affixed, immobilized, or encapsulated in a variety of matrix materials. More recently more novel materials have been used, including carbon nanotubes,<sup>87</sup> gold particles,<sup>88</sup> proteins (amino acids),<sup>89</sup> and DNA,<sup>90</sup> to provide interaction sites for biological recognition components or analytes. The matrix must be chemically inert and not change the properties of the biological component so that the reactivity, potency, or interaction is not lost. In addition, the matrix must have open geometry so that the target analyte can access the biological component. Use of polymer matrices for biosensors has been reviewed previously.<sup>91</sup>

Detection of biologically active species is typically achieved using either optical or electrochemical methods. For electrochemical systems the biological transducer is incorporated in such a way that signal transduction results in a measurable current. Optical methods require that the biologically active component causes changes in the optical properties such as UV–vis absorbance and fluorescence intensity. In most cases this is achieved by incorporation of a biologically selective enzyme through electrostatic interactions or covalent bonding.<sup>92</sup> These systems have been reviewed previously and will not be extensively discussed in this review.<sup>93</sup>

Polymers are one common host matrix that are suitable for incorporation and trapping of enzymes.<sup>94</sup> Electropolymerization of nonconducting films like polyphenol, poly-(1,2- diaminobenzene), poly(1,3-diaminobenzene), and poly-(*o*-aminophenol) in the presence of an enzyme has been achieved with controlled enzyme loading. The enzymes remain active during polymerization and encapsulation because these films are generated from water-soluble monomers. Thin uniform films that filter electroactive interferents are possible, minimizing poisoning of the enzyme. Enzyme layers prepared by electropolymerization of *p*-aminophenol and glucose oxidase (GOx) have shown excellent characteristics in glucose sensor performance.<sup>95</sup>

Similarly, use of high-volume sol-gels<sup>96</sup> and zeolytes<sup>97</sup> as immobilization matrices has been realized. The large open volumes of sol-gels and zeolites provide attractive voids for incorporation of biologically active materials. In addition, the large open volumes allow rapid diffusion of analytes into the structure. Finally, two-dimensional arrays of self-assembled biologically active materials have been achieved, eliminating the need for secondary matrices. In these systems the biologically active component is typically covalently attached to the surface using well-known assembly chemistry such as the metal/thiolate interaction.<sup>98</sup>

# 3. Advances in Composites of Inherently Conducting Polymers

The general sensing mechanism is based on changes in the physical, chemical, or mechanical properties of the polymer when exposed to analyte. For example, when a conducting composite is exposed to a vapor it permeates into the polymer causing it to expand. The vapor-induced expansion of the polymer reduces the number of electrically conducting pathways for charge carriers. As a result, the electrical resistance of the composite rises. The high segment chain mobility of the ICP in the composite is an important requirement for good absorption of vapors or gases. This property can be improved through addition of nonconducting polymer, carbon, metal, or metal oxide particulates, or biological materials as they create amorphous, flexible regions around the ICP polymer chains in the composite. Consequently, they can be used to increase the number of interacting sites with the analyte, increase the intra- and interchain mobility of charge in ICP polymer chains or even change the affinity of the composite for the electron-donor or -acceptor gas. Furthermore, they can be used as a

transducer matrix to convert the ionic charge into an electronic one, as a mediator and sometimes even as a catalyst. In the following section we will try to describe the role of the various components in the ICP composite materials with respect to sensitivity, response, and recovery time of the generated sensor signal that is a complex combination of transport properties within the host matrix and chemical interaction with the analyte.

For application of composites in sensor devices, two important factors need to be addressed: functionality and processability. These properties are related to the aspect ratio of the two components in the matrix, the interfacial adhesion between the additives, electrical conductivity, and structure. All of the properties are greatly influenced by the method used to obtain them, which essentially defines the fundamental challenge for applied ICP/CNT composite research. How does one effectively manipulate nanoscale building blocks to assemble useful nanoscale materials? Besides these essential factors, the properties of the composite can also be affected by the geometric structure of the material itself since it can be processed in the form of films, pellets, and wires. The differences in the volumetric factors between these structures cannot be neglected because they dramatically influence the diffusion of species into the composite and can affect the magnitude of the sensor response. More compact structures or thicker films may slow diffusion and be responsible for slow sensor response. On the other hand, thin films or fibers will be limited in the number of interacting sites, which may become the limiting factor for the dynamic range of the sensor response. Furthermore, processing parameters used for fabrication of structured composites affect, e.g., crystallinity and porosity in these materials.

Although the method of ICP/polymer composite sensors preparation is important, selection of the detection method for an analyte is equally important. For example, electronic properties that are strongly influenced by the preparation methods of ICP/polymer composites will have an impact on conductivity changes in conductive sensors. In contrast, in potentiometric sensors the measured change in anion or cation concentration in solution or in work function will depend strongly on the starting redox composition of the polymer.

#### 3.1. Composites with Nonconducting Polymers

A useful approach to overcome some of the physical and chemical limitations, including the processability and mechanical and thermochemical stability of ICPs, involves combining these materials with other well-known nonconducting polymers, such as poly(vinylalcohol) (PVA), polystyrene (PS), poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA), and poly(vinylacetate) (PVAc).99 The resulting composite combines the advantageous electrical, redox, or optical properties of ICP with the mechanical properties of the host polymer through the ratio of ICP verses the insulating polymer.<sup>100</sup> The intrinsic conductivity of the ICP is not the key factor governing the electrical conductivity of the ICP/polymer composite films. Rather the processability of the two components in solution and the extent of dispersion of the conducting polymer inside the insulating polymer matrix are key.<sup>101</sup> In addition, the extent of dispersion of the ICP particles based on the solubility of the insulating matrix in the common solvent and the solvent's ability to swell and diminish heterogeneous domains inside the insulating polymer matrix strongly influences the electrical properties.

The solvent contributes to changes in the morphology of the film, which changes the response magnitude and reversibility of the sensor. Therefore, it is possible to vary sensitivity toward alcohols and amines and relative humidity by choosing the appropriate polymer matrix and solvent system for casting. However, it is not possible to modify the sensor's selectivity within the same polymer matrix. Higher solubility for the ICP in common solvent has been achieved using an anionic surfactant such as dodecyl benzenesulfonic acid (DBSA) that is also a dopant for the ICP precursor.

Chemical sensors based on coupling of the polymer swelling to optical and magneto- and electrochemical transduction technologies have been recently reviewed.<sup>102</sup> These composites have been categorized in terms of the production process as either homogeneous or heterogeneous systems. In homogeneous systems polymerization of ICP monomer is conducted in the presence of the nonconducting host of the polymeric matrix in solution. In heterogeneous systems polymerization is carried out via emulsion, colloidal dispersion of ICP particles, or thermal processing.<sup>103</sup> The thermally processed composites have percolation thresholds that are at least 1 order of magnitude higher than the lowest values obtained from solution-processed blends. Thermal processing methods provide poor structural control of the morphology. The solution and thermal processability of doped conjugated polymers allows production of conducting fibers with more open geometry. Properties of these composites such as degradation mechanism, electrochemical behavior in nonaqueous media, resistivity changes in relation to dispersion concentration, ion-exchange properties, conductivity, and photoconductivity studies have been examined previously.<sup>104</sup>

It can be concluded that the structure and mechanical properties of the electrically insulating polymer in the composite govern the sorption of the analyte molecule into the blend matrix and thus facilitate a change in the effective volume fraction of the conductive ICP phase. The ability of adjacent charge carriers in the ICP to hop or tunnel is controlled by potential barrier between the hopping sites and the host polymer, which can be manipulated by temperature.<sup>105</sup> In general, temperature-dependent sensor sensitivity to a particular gas is governed by the ratio of the two components in the composite and by the sensor–gas equilibria.

#### 3.1.1. Composites with Hydrophilic Polymers

The solubility of various nonconducting polymers in water is well known and can be utilized to prepare ICP/polymer composites. However, water solubility implies that the materials will be sensitive to water vapor and that relative humidity must be monitored and evaluated before use as sensor materials. In some cases the sensitivity to water vapor can be used to produce highly reproducible humidity sensors. Various ICP polymers have been prepared in the presence of "water-soluble" polymers including PVA and PMMA, polymer (poly-N-vinyl pyrrolidin-2-one (PVP)), and ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA). Composites of polypyrrole with poly-(vinyl acetate) with ~27% PPy (PPy/PVAc) were cast as smooth, strong, and flexible films with electrical conductivity comparable to that of PPy and mechanical properties similar to those of the host polymer. The composite material demonstrates the importance of combining two materials and the benefit of mixing physical and chemical properties of the two dissimilar materials. The threshold conductivity for

the composite was reached at 5% of PPy in the host matrix. The environmental stability of the PPy/polymer composite is improved relative to PPy films that can loose up to 50-65% of their conductivity after 45 days of exposure to the atmosphere.

PANI/PVA composites have also been prepared with variable amounts of PANI in the composite. Composites with more than 20% by weight of PANI in PVA are immiscible. However, when less than 10% of PANI is present, the composite is miscible. In general, processed PANI/PVA composite films (150  $\mu$ m thick) do not show any change with respect to relative humidity between 10% and 60%. Also, PVA alone does not show significant impedance changes over the same relative humidity range. When the miscible PANI/PVA composite is exposed to relative humidity between 60% and 90%, the resistance decreases from the high MOhm range to lower values. The resistance of the immiscible PANI/PVA composite increases from the lower kOhm range to higher values for relative humidity between 60% and 90%.<sup>106</sup> It is important to note that a relatively small increase in the minority component PANI has a dramatic influence on the overall properties of the composite. The changes have been attributed to swelling of the PVA, which leads to separation of the conducting ICP/ polymer domains for the composites. The overall resistance is based on competitive processes where the resistivity of PANI and PVA decreases and increases, respectively, at high humidity. PANI/PVP composites provide another example of composite materials with high sensitivity to relative humidity. These composites are prepared using poly-N-vinyl pyrrolidin-2-one (PVP), which has high affinity for the water vapor.<sup>102</sup> However, this film is less sensitive toward NH<sub>3</sub> than pure PANI. This discrepancy was attributed to the low affinity of the PVP for NH<sub>3</sub> sorption. In this example the properties of the PANI composite do not necessarily produce a better sensing material. Rather, it demonstrates the influence of each material in the composite on the overall sensing characteristics.

#### 3.1.2. Composites with Hydrophobic Polymers

An attractive alternative to the PANI/PVA, water-soluble composite, is the PANI with styrene-butyl acrylate (SBA) copolymer films doped with weak acid.<sup>107</sup> The composite shows a linear resistive response for relative humidity between 20% and 95%, fast response time (4-5 s) measured in stepwise increments (of 10% relative humidity), and fast recovery times (10 s). The films were found to be stable for more than 1 year and at temperatures below 50 °C. Wallace et al. reported reliable and predictable linear responses with over a 100% resistance change over a 95% change in relative humidity for PANI and poly(butyl acrylate-co-vinyl acetate) (P(BuA-VAc)) copolymer (40% w/w). The composite with 15% w/w of PANI showed an exponential response with increased sensitivities with an 800% resistance change over a 95% change in relative humidity. The only disadvantage to PANI/P(BuA-VAc) composite is that the response showed a slow but consistent drift which was attributed to an overoxidation of PANI in air. However, the high sensitivity of the composite far outweighs the drift associated with decomposition.

Despite the use of relatively low hydrophilic matrix polymers such as poly(methylmethacrylate) or more hydrophobic polymers such as polystyrene, the influence of humidity on the ammonia response of PANI/PMMA and PANI/PS sensor films was consistent with expected results. PANI doped with bis(2-ethyl hexyl) hydrogen phosphate (DiOHP) was mixed with poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) and polystyrene (PS) and dissolved in toluene.<sup>108</sup> The resulting solution of polymers in toluene was cast to produce free-standing films. Use of toluene as casting solvent introduces porosity in the PANI-PS and PANI-PMMA blend favorable to high diffusion of gases into the membranes. Furthermore, PANI aggregates formed that were homogeneously distributed and completely covered by the host polymer in the matrix in the PANI/DiOHP/PS film. In contrast, PANI aggregates appear to form inside the porous matrix of the composite for PANI/DiOHP/PMMA composites. These aggregates introduce porosity into the PANI-PMMA blend and enhance the sensor response and reversibility. The composition of the protonated PANI in the PANI/ DiOHP/PMMA and PANI/DiOHP/PS blends was 65.3%. The conductivity of the films decreased monotonously with increasing relative humidity from 15% to 85%. It is likely that the water molecules interact with the doped PANI, forming hydrogen bonds between the water molecules and the PANI backbone or the donor molecules, influencing the electronic properties of the composites. The PANI/DiOHP/ PMMA composite showed larger decreases in conductivity than PANI/DiOHP/PS due to the higher porosity of PMMA host matrix. It was shown that the PANI/DiOHP/PS and PANI/DiOHP/PMMA blends have much better environmental stability than pure PANI films. In contrast to many of the composites discussed thus far, polypyrrole films chemically polymerized on poly(etheretherketone) (PEEK) and poly(methylmethacrylate) (PMMA) show high sensitivity to ammonia and amines at 100% RH with detection limits of 1 ppm. In addition, the composites can be used in biochemical applications because they are stable in aqueous environment.<sup>109</sup> Synthesis of 250 nm thick layer of PPy/PEEK composite has been achieved. In contrast, PPy/PMMA formed only a monolayer of  $\sim 50$  nm spheres. The PPy polymerized on PEEK was more sensitive to ammonia and showed little sensitivity to ethanol or water in contrast to PPy deposited on PMMA or to a neat PPy. In addition, the PPy/PEEK composite was approximately three times more stable over time than PPy/PMMA. Composites of PMMA or PS processed with PPy doped with naphthalenesulfonate were also successfully used as acetone/toluene and acetone/ acetic acid sensors.110

The gas-sensing properties of PANI/nylon-6 composite have been evaluated with respect to NH<sub>3</sub>, CO, and  $C_3H_8$ detection and quantitation. These studies have focused on the influence of the acid dopant on the sensing properties of the materials. The composites with monocarboxylic acid doped PANI including formic acid, acrylic acid, and dodecyl benzenesulfonic acid respond rapidly to NH<sub>3</sub> gas. In contrast, CO and  $C_3H_8$  gases have no significant effect on changes in the electrical resistance of the composite or neat PANI material.<sup>111</sup>

It was also shown that pellets produced from PANI doped with HNO<sub>3</sub> or camphorsulfonic acid (CSA) have slightly higher electrical conductivity when compared to pellets of PANI/polyimide (PI) doped with either HNO<sub>3</sub> or CSI. The electrical conductivity values of PANI-HNO<sub>3</sub>/PI and PANI-CSA/PI composites are comparable, in contrast to pellets made from homopolymer alone. The crystallinity of the PANI/PI composites doped with different acids is the key similar conductivity of the materials. Upon contact of the PANI-CSA in a form of a pristine material or composite with CO, known as oxidizing gas, an electron is transferred from the  $\pi$ -electron network of PANI to the gas, making the polymer positively charged. The charge carriers give rise to increased electrical conductivity of the film. The presence of polyimide in the PANI-CSA pellet improves the sensitivity toward CO interaction due to the fact that the conductivity is smaller by an order of magnitude when compared to the pristine polymer. On the other hand, the electrical conductivity responses are comparable.<sup>112</sup> Addition of polyimide to PANI not only reduces brittleness of the film but also improves electrical sensitivity toward CO by increasing the range of exposure temperatures accessible. On the basis of this observation it is expected that the temperature dependence may be used to improve selectivity of PANI/PI composites to gases or vapors by influencing the permeability or the displacement of water from the surface.

Generally, the gas sensitivity of the ICP/nonconducting polymers is considerably larger (1 or 2 order of magnitude) than that of the ICPs for the hydrophobic vapor analytes (xylene, benzene, acetone) at high vapor concentrations. Selective conductivity responses have been reported toward acetone and toluene or acetone and acetic acid for polypyrrole doped with naphthalene sulfonic acid (NS) using polystyrene (PS) or polymethacrylate (PMMA) as a nonconducting matrix.113 The selectivity was attributed to solubility parameters of the nonconducting polymers that are comparable to acetone.<sup>114</sup> The selective conductivity response was controlled by temperature. It originated from two effects: the swelling of the nonconducting matrix that separated the conductive PPy particles and the PPy-NS interactions with the vapor itself. Moreover, the sensitivity to water was successfully eliminated. However, the long induction period and poorly reproducible responses remains a challenge in the use of these materials as sensors.

In summary, preparation of ICP/nonconducting polymer as a composite is simple. However, use of ICP/nonconducting polymers as sensitive, selective sensors can only be accomplished if the properties of the combined materials are adequately understood. For example, the ratio of the components in the matrix must be strictly controlled since it affects the reproducibility of the film sheet resistance and sensing device performance.

#### 3.1.3. Multicomponent Composites

In ternary blend systems a conducting polymer is soluble in a uniform mixed nonconducting polymer matrix and does not interfere with the miscibility between the components of the nonconducting matrix. It has been reported that mixed matrices of copolyamide (CoPA)/ethylene vinyl acetate) (EVA) prepared with various PANI concentrations can be utilized as sensors for a homologous series of alcohols. The highest decrease in resistance correlated well with the polarity of the analytes.<sup>115</sup> The solubility difference of ICP in CoPA and EVA creates a continuous morphology for containing a highly conjugated path in the nonconjugated matrix. Therefore, the properties of the ternary polymer blend system are frequently better than conductive composites containing nonpolymeric conductive phases like carbon black or metal particles. The most prominent difference between these systems is that carbon black (CB) or metal particles do not produce as high an electronic conduction path in the matrix. Generally speaking, the higher electrical conductivity of the composite films provides higher signal-to-noise and reproducibility.

Favorable miscibility of ICP with the polymer components of the host matrix can easily be investigated using UV-vis, FTIR spectroscopy, optical microscopy, and differential scanning calorimetry. For example, the blue shift of the  $\pi - \pi^*$  transition of ICP observed in the UV-vis spectrum signals the change in the conjugation length of the ICP and it splitting the miscibility with the polymer blend, vibrational shifts in the FTIR, and flattening of bands signals possible molecular interactions in the system, melting point depression, the miscibility and visual examination of the changes in the morphology of the material. In summary, the ternary type of polymer system offers expanded flexibility for realizing high-performance semiconducting architectures which can eliminate the need to design all of the performance requirements into the active semiconducting polymer. In general, sensors using these blends have low power consumption, operate at ambient temperature, and show reversible adsorption/desorption kinetics which are favorable in sensor applications.

## 3.2. Composites with Carbon Black and Carbon Nanotubes

Electrically conductive composites with carbon black (CB) or carbon nanotubes (CNT) and ICP have been produced and their advances in chemical sensing application reviewed.<sup>116</sup> These composites are obtained using two methods. The first method consists of the direct mixing of carbon black (CB), dispersion of CNT with or without ICP, or polymerization of ICP on the dried CNT networks. In the chemical or electrochemical oxidative polymerization of the ICP monomer CNTs act a supplementary reactive reagent. All the preparation methods lead to similar composites with improved electrical and mechanical properties of the ICP.

Carbon black particulates are one of the simplest carbon materials that have been particularly useful in the form of ICP/CB composite for the electrochemical detection of metal cations using stripping voltammetry.<sup>117</sup> The environmentally inert PANI/CB composite, prepared in porous glass as an electrode, showed high chemical and physical stability and allowed high reproducibility for the electrochemical accumulation and sensing of metal cations. These composite electrodes allow more hazardous Hg electrodes to be eliminated.

Addition of carbon structures using carbon nanotubes produces composites with enhanced properties relative to ICP/CB composites due primarily to the higher surface area. Most of the sensor applications of ICP/CNT composite have focused primarily on polyaniline, polypyrrole, polythiophene, and poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) (PEDOT) and characterization of their synergistic electronic and sensing properties. Different interface reactions between the ICP polymer and CNTs can be created which depend on the synthesis process. The interaction of aniline with CNT during polymerization can form charge-transfer complexes associated with disorder in the graphite lattice and defects on the carbon nanotubes. Alternatively, CNTs can create binding sites with the precursor ICP. The interaction between the dispersed ICP and carboxylated CNTs in a solvent can form covalent bonds that lead to polymer-functionalized CNTs and CNT doped polymer. In the case of chemical polymerization of ICP monomer in the presence of CNTs, the radical anion of the CNTs interacts with the positive charges on the ICP, resulting in polymer-functionalized CNTs.<sup>118</sup>

The electrical conductivity and structure of the composite is greatly influenced by the method used prepare the com-

posite and the relative composition of CNT versus polymer. Preparation of the PANI/CNT composites from solutions of PANI (EB) in N.N -dimethyl propylene urea (DMPU) containing different amounts of the CNTs  $(1-5\%)^{119}$  have been compared with poly(3-hexylthiophene) (P3HT) with nonfunctionalized and functionalized solubilized SWCNTs in chloroform.<sup>120</sup> A rise in conductivity was observed only in the case of functionalized SWCNTs-P3HT composite having 1-5% weight content of nanotubes. In contrast, the nonfunctionalized SWCNTs-P3HT composite requires almost 20% by weight of nanotubes in the matrix to obtain the same level of conductivity as the functionalized SWCNTs. Although conductivity alone is not the dominant factor for ICP/ CNT sensor applications it demonstrates the influence of carbon composition on the electronic properties of the composites. Since conductivity changes can be utilized as a detection method the functionalized composites may provide a more suitable starting material for development of chemical sensors. Finally, functionalization of the CNT surface not only leads to better dispersibility of the CNTs in various organic solvents<sup>121</sup> but also allows grafting of the ICP on to the wall of the nanotube, (CNT-f-ICP).<sup>122</sup> In addition, it increases the strength of the interface between the CNT and the ICP matrix and contributes to its environmental stability.

Fabrication of PANI/CNT composites through the electrostatic adsorption of the anilinium cation to MWNTs functionalized with COO<sup>-</sup>-functionalized MWNT requires only a very small amount of CNTs to form a conducting network chemiresistor.<sup>123</sup> The thickness of the films is an issue because the films are typically much thinner using this synthetic technique. Therefore, the thin film response is faster, but the overall analytical sensitivity is limited.<sup>124</sup> For thicker films chemisorption and physisorption can result in long recovery times. In fact, pure ICP does not show a high degree of chemisorption or physisorption in the absence of the MWNT. Operation of the conductometric sensor at higher temperature may enhance the desorption process of the chemisorbed gas and shorten the recovery time but can also decrease the overall sensor response.

The mechanism for the interaction of ICP/CNT composite with gas or vapor and the molecular selectivity have not yet been detailed. It has been suggested that it is based on chargetransfer interactions between the composite and the analyte. Furthermore, it has been also reported that cast membranes of chemically polymerized ICP/CNT material may yield more uniform coatings with much higher surface area than electrochemically polymerized material.<sup>125</sup> Multipulse chronoamperometric electropolymerization (MCE) has been used to fabricate composites with larger specific area, enhanced electronic conductivity, and ionic transport capacity critical for electroanalytical sensors.<sup>126</sup> In general, higher surface areas provide an increased number of interaction sites within the composite that are available for sensing.

The selective responses of chemoresistor to polar and nonpolar vapors can be predicted based on the ionization potential difference of the vapors. The greater the ionization potential, the weaker the polarization should be. This was demonstrated using a chemiresistor fabricated with a paste made from chemically polymerized 3-methylthiophene in the presence of COOH-functionalized MWCNTs, mixed with polyethylene oxide (used as a binder) deposited between two palladium electrodes. This chemiresistor was sensitive to chloromethanes (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, CHCl<sub>3</sub>, CCl<sub>4</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>) with fast response times. However, it was not sensitive to acetone, acetaldehyde, benzaldehyde, tetrahydrofuran, methanol, and ethanol vapors providing high selectivity.<sup>127</sup> The high selectivity of this composite was based on the analyte adsorptivities during analyte interaction. The suggested mechanism involves lowering of the free energy of the analyte due to the polarized structure of the composite, reducing electron flow in the sensor circuit. Similar interactions have been exploited using electron donors such of ammonia, trimethylamine, and triethylamine vapors with CNTs-COOH/PANI composites.<sup>128</sup> The changes in electron affinity associated with functional groups such as methyl, ethyl, and hydrogen leads to variation in gas sensitivity and response rate of the chemiresistor. It was shown that addition of CNT to PANI actually reduced the sensitivity to triethylamine, but the current baseline increased greatly which is favorable for the stability of the sensor. The existence of a strong interaction between CNT and PANI was shown to be an efficient way to adjust the baseline current and properties of gas sensors. In contrast, strong interactions between the analyte and the specific binding sites in the composite contribute to a high, irreversible response.

The effect of adsorption of gas molecules on functionalized field-effect-transistor have also been tested. However, the mechanism for the enhanced sensitivity has not been determined. The results are not fully understood and somewhat controversial due to possible modulation of Schotky barriers.<sup>129</sup> For example, two distinct responses were observed for the polyethyleneimine (PEI)/CNT-functionalized FET upon exposure to the electron-withdrawing NO<sub>2</sub> molecules. A steep and nonlinear conductance change at low gas concentration (up to 20 ppm) and linear conductance change at high gas concentration were observed. It has been suggested that the response at high concentrations may account for the charge transfer between the adsorbed gas molecules and the CNT/composite. A Langmuir-type isotherm can be used to describe adsorption at low concentrations of NO<sub>2</sub> consistent with a steep and nonlinear change in conductivity. This observation was independent of the type of the coating (CNT with PEI or without), suggesting that the PEI does not alter the binding energy of adsorbed molecules. The response at high concentration has to be taken into account when the vapor is at ppt concentration.<sup>130</sup>

Recent studies have also demonstrated that CNTs enhance the electrocatalytic properties of phosphomolybdic acid (H<sub>3</sub>PMo<sub>12</sub>O<sub>40</sub>) in polypyrrole films when used as an amperometric sensor. The studies are predicated on the enhanced catalytic activity associated with the high electron density of the polymer and surface reactivity of the composite. Use of galvanostatically deposited film of PPy doped with the heteropolyanion on CNT-modified gold electrode has been particularly useful in the detection and quantitation of nitrite.<sup>131</sup> An enhanced electrocatalytic reduction current for nitrite was observed for PPy-(H<sub>3</sub>PMo<sub>12</sub>O<sub>40</sub>)/CNT/Au as compared to the electrode without CNT. The reduced response of PPy-(H<sub>3</sub>PMo<sub>12</sub>O<sub>40</sub>)/Au demonstrated that CNTs promote electron transfer between the heteropolyanion and the electrode surface. The amperometric response to nitrite was about four times higher than that of the electrode without CNT reaching a detection limit of  $1 \times 10^{-6}$  M. A similar method for grafting electrochemically deposited PANI films on CNT and incorporation of nanoclusters of nickel hexacyanoferrates has been applied for detection of cesium ions.<sup>132</sup>

New electroanalytical applications have also been examined with ICP/CNT composites. The oxidation state of the ICP is particularly relevant to these applications. Specifically the equilibrium potential of the two partially oxidized redox couples of the ICPs are critical. In polyaniline the equilibrium potential is defined by the ratio of the deprotonated base (emeraldine base, EB) and the protonated salt (emeraldine salt, ES).<sup>133</sup> Composites of PANI/CNT networks (150-200 nm thick) deposited from sodium dodecylsulfate (SDS) and coated electrochemically with PPy or PANI showed reproducible, linear, fast, and stable pH responses in buffer solution of pH 1-13.<sup>134</sup> The dynamic range and stability of the response was significantly improved due to the higher thickness of the film and different types of binding sites present in the film when compared to pure CNT network. In addition, excellent electrocatalytic properties have been reported for overoxidized PPy/SWNT composite deposited on glassy carbon electrode (GCE) from sodium dodecyl sulfate. The oxidized composite has been used for amperometric sensing of nitrite, ascorbic acid, dopamine, and uric acid.<sup>135</sup> The useful concentration ranges for dopamine, uric acid, and ascorbic acid were between  $1.0 \times 10^{-3}$  and  $1.0 \times$  $10^{-6}$  M with detection limits of  $3.8 \times 10^{-7}$ ,  $7.4 \times 10^{-7}$ , and  $4.6 \times 10^{-6}$ , respectively. The electrodes were stable, selective, and sensitive to the biological species.

The field of biosensing has also benefited from ICP/carbon composite materials. For example, amperometric glucose sensors have been made by modifying the platinum surface with CNTs followed by electrochemical deposition of 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB). The DAB film introduces NH<sub>2</sub> functional groups into the composite that are use to immobilize glucose oxidase.<sup>136</sup> Although there are numerous glucose biosensors discussed in the literature, this material is more selective and has a higher response to glucose at a much lower potential than other materials. The lower detection potential allows suppressed interference signals from ascorbic acid or uric acid. The enhanced properties are the direct result of the symbiotic properties of the composite.

Preparation of poly(1,2-diaminobenzene)/CNTs nanoporous composite on a glassy carbon electrode via a multipulse chronoamperometric electropolymerization process has been demonstrated. The composite provides an excellent platform for fast determination (5 s) of NADH at a lower concentration range (from 2.0  $\mu$ M to 4 mM) with detection limits of 0.5  $\mu$ M in phosphate buffer. These values are significantly lower than the response of the polymer alone. That performance is a direct result of the enhanced electronic structure of the composite and high surface area afforded by the CNTs coated with polymer.<sup>126</sup>

ICP/carbon composites have been applied to a number of common biosensor systems. For example, an effective molecular template for the electrostatic rejection of dopamine has been prepared from a DNA-dispersed CNT in self-doped poly(anilineboronic acid). The sensor has improved conductivity, redox activity, and stability of the polymer in neutral solutions during dopamine detection at very low concentration (1 nM).<sup>137</sup> Similarly, electrochemical DNA biosensors based on nucleic acid recognition processes exploit the properties of ICP/CNT composites. For this system, PPy/ MWCNTs-COOH-modified glassy carbon electrodes are incubated in the presence of 1-ethyl-3(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide (EDAC), and NH2-terminated ssDNA probes were used as the DNA hybridization transducer.<sup>138</sup> Finally, ICP/CNT composites have been used to detect complementary DNA sequences as low as  $5.0 \times 10^{-12}$  mol/L using electrochemical impedance without a hybridization marker or intercalator. Use of hybridized DNA probes provides a high degree of selectivity at a high cost. Therefore, when possible nonhybridized systems are preferred provided they are selective and sensitive for the target DNA structure.

In summary, it can be said that ICP/CNT composites are very useful for facilitating electron transfer and increasing efficiency of binding sites for specific sensing interactions without the need of redox mediators. However, they require functionalization because the carbon structures alone do not provide selective interfaces within the sensor composite. In addition, difficulties in incorporation of the carbon species must be overcome for proper accommodation within the sensor device structure. Provided these issues are addressed, the enhanced electronic conductivity of the carbon materials is promising to provide high sensitivity responses to a variety of analytes.

#### 3.3. Composites with Metallic or Metal-Containing Components

Incorporation of metals, metal oxides, and organometallic species such as metallocenes in intrinsically conductive polymers can enhance electron transfer through a direct or mediated mechanism with improved conductivity and enhanced stability.<sup>139</sup> For these systems the electron-rich polymer often acts as a chemical receptor or scaffold for the secondary component. The electron density of the conductive polymer is important, providing stability to species that may be electron deficient. However, it has also been suggested that the polymer provides stability through exclusion of surface contaminants that may interfere with the surface chemistry of the deposit. The structure of the conductive polymer plays a role in the dispersion of the species, their aggregation, and formation of the composite material. The polymer is used to provide high surface, protection against the fouling of the metal catalyst, and a scaffold for high dispersion and anchoring of the metal particles. The conductivity of the composite allows the electron density of the polymer to be controlled through the applied thermodynamic potential which influences chemical reactions at the metal surface. The ability to finely disperse the secondary species in the polymer ensures high surface area and possible enhancement of the unique characteristics of the composite. The synthetic method employed is an important factor to consider with regard to the homogeneous distribution of the secondary component.

There are multiple methods used to prepare the ICP composite materials with metallic species distributed at the polymer surface in the vicinity of the electrode/polymer interface or throughout the bulk of the polymer. The approach used to introduce the metallic species typically determines the degree of dispersion or deposition. For example, dispersion of the polymer using pulsed deposition and relaxation (spontaneous reduction of the species) or co-deposition of the ICP with the active species using cyclic voltammetry has been utilized to introduce metal species.<sup>140</sup> One common approach involves the chemical reaction and uptake of a species by the conductive polymer. In this case the species are introduced by controlled reduction of metallic anions such as AuCl<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>, PtCl<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>, and PtCl<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup> by manipulating the redox sites within the ICP.<sup>141</sup> The uptake of the negatively charged anion of interest is based on the oxidation of the polymer and the need to maintain charge neutrality in the system. Reduction of the anion occurs as the potential is switched to negative values. In contrast, the oxidized form of the metal

species can be introduced to the polymer using metal salts followed by the electrochemical, chemical, or spontaneous reduction of the metallic species. The most common metals incorporated into the ICP include gold, platinum, and palladium as nano- or/and microparticles.

In many cases formation of the metal nanoparticles occurs prior to incorporation into conductive polymer matrix. In such cases, the preformed clusters of metal, metal oxides, or metallocenes are dispersed in solution containing the ICP precursor. Chemical oxidation of the precursor results in encapsulation of the metal species to form the ICP composite.<sup>142</sup> The resulting materials can then be cast onto substrates for subsequent applications. Recently, the direct chemical synthesis of composite materials using polymer precursors and oxidizing anions such as  $AuCl_4^-$  and  $PtCl_6^{2^-}$  has been reported.<sup>143</sup> Each of the methods discussed has its advantages and disadvantages that must be weighed before they are used to prepare composite materials.

The properties and application of composite materials containing metals, metal oxides, and metallocenes are quite diverse. For example, polyaniline, polythiophene, and polypyrrole have all been utilized as scaffolds for the incorporation of metal species in catalytic applications.<sup>144</sup> Catalysis at metal surfaces embedded in conducting polymers is enhanced due to the conductive environment. The electrooxidation of CO adsorbed on Pt particles incorporated into the PANI film surface occurs at a lower positive potential than on bulk Pt alone. The oxidation potential depends not only on the thickness of PANI film but also on the amount of Pt particles incorporated into the PANI matrix.<sup>145</sup> Likewise, metal oxides such as SnO2 and TiO2 have received much attention due to their unique properties and use in applications such as fuel cells and batteries.146 Metallocenes can be used for a host of applications based on their optical and electronic properties.<sup>147</sup> When combined with ICPs each of these materials provides unique properties that are consistent with the physical and chemical properties of the species.

The properties of the composite materials are exploited when developing chemical sensing applications. It is well known that nanoparticles demonstrate special size- and shape-dependent properties.<sup>148</sup> For example, the nanoparticle size and shape have significant effects on the localized surface plasmon resonance spectrum of Ag and Au nanoparticles.<sup>149</sup> The sensing application typically dictates the critical size of the metal species in the composite. It has been observed that aggregation and size distribution of the metal nanoparticles vary with the reaction time. It is difficult to control both the size distribution and aggregation of the metal particles embedded in the polymer matrix regardless of the technique used to create the composite. Therefore, the size of the metal particle is often inhomogeneous or variable. Within this section we would like to review some approaches for the synthesis and use of ICP/metallic species composites for chemical sensing.

#### 3.3.1. Gold

Chemical sensors based on gold nanostructured particles are of interest for sensing gases and vapors and as binding sites for enzymes, proteins, and nucleotides. While the size of the gold cluster used to affix bioactive species is not critical, detection of gases at gold surfaces is dependent on this parameter. Therefore, the size distribution of gold in ICPs must be monitored based on the application. The dependence is governed by the shift of the binding energy of Au clusters in the PANI matrix associated with the cluster size. The binding energy of the smallest Au particle size (0.2 nm) has been determined to be 84.49 eV. In contrast, the binding energy for the largest (30 nm) Au particle is 84.09 eV, a difference of 0.40 eV. The properties of gold clusters, ~5 nm, approaches bulk metal with respect to binding energies. In contrast, clusters of 1-2 nm diameter have approximately 30-250 atoms with higher binding energies.<sup>150</sup> In addition, the nanoscopic gold catalysts are active at much lower temperatures in comparison to platinum-group catalysts for CO oxidation.<sup>151</sup> There is a debate regarding the underlying basis for the activity of these nanoscale materials contributing to the complexity of Au-based catalysts.

The optical properties of nanoscale metal particles and composites are often unique. For example, femtosecond transient absorption dynamics of the gold and goldpolypyrrole nanoparticles by photoexcitation at wavelengths of 580 and 400 nm are different.<sup>152</sup> In contrast to gold nanoparticles, PPy/Au nanoparticles exhibit negligible changes in the time constants for electron-phonon interactions for increasing beam intensity. In addition, the amplitudes for phonon-phonon interactions of the gold polypyrrole nanoparticles are enhanced significantly with increasing beam intensity in comparison to bare gold nanoparticles. These features illustrate that polypyrrole provides an efficient channel for thermal energy relaxation of the gold nanoparticles in the PPy/Au composite. Not all optical properties are enhanced by formation of the PPy/Au composite. Photoexcitation of gold particles and the PPy/Au composite at 400 nm is nearly the same regardless of changes in the excitation intensity.

Chemical oxidation-reduction reactions that result in the uptake of gold into the conducting polymer can also be spontaneous. When the reaction conditions become thermodynamically unfavorable the process ceases. It was demonstrated that the spontaneous reduction of Au from halogenaurate salt in acidic solution into previously formed PANI films containing either HBF4 or CH3COOH acid dopant changes the work function of the PANI/Au composite. It needs to be pointed out that the nucleation and growth of the gold particles in the PANI is a continuous interplay between nucleation and diffusion of the aurate ions in the solution. The film morphology depends on the thickness and acid used for its polymerization, which affect the availability of nucleation sites (imine to amine ratio). The size of the Au clusters and their distribution within the polymer matrix is a function of the immersion time in solution.<sup>153</sup>

More recent studies have used the aniline monomer and metal anion, AuCl<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>, to produce PANI/Au composites.<sup>154</sup> The one-step process has also been used to form PANI/Au structures in the presence of soft templates such as D-camphor-10-sulfonic acid (CSA), which acts as both a dopant and a surfactant in formation of one-dimensional PANI/Au coaxial nanocables with an average diameter of 50–60 nm and lengths of more than  $1-2 \ \mu m.^{155}$  It was found that the probability of formation and the size of the PANI/Au nanofiber depends on the molar ratio of aniline to HAuCl<sub>4</sub> and the concentration of CSA, respectively. The conductivity of a single gold/polyaniline nanocable was high, 77.2 S cm<sup>-1</sup>. Hollow PANI nanotubes, with an average diameter of 50–60 nm, were also obtained successfully by dissolving the Au from the composite.

In contrast to the chemical synthesis of PANI/Au composite the thermodynamics of the synthesis can be controlled electrochemically with the applied electrochemical potential. In these processes the potential dependent uptake and reduction of AuCl<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> ions is achieved in the preformed polymer film of either PANI or PPy.<sup>156</sup> In addition, studies of the uptake of HCl in PANI films have identified a similar method for creating PANI/Au composites termed "moving electrochemical front" synthesis. The technique is based on the potential-dependent generation of chloroaurate ion at the sacrificial Au electrode surfaces during normal acid doping of the polymer. The electrochemical generation of AuCl<sub>4</sub>was reduced in the PANI film to form the PANI/Au composite.<sup>148</sup> Comparative experiments between the electrochemical and chemical method for Au formation in the PANI matrix have identified the synthetic differences between the composites.<sup>139</sup> In the case of electrochemically prepared PANI/Au composites the reduction of Au has been shown to reduce proton doping at the nitrogen heteroatom. Acid doping for the chemically prepared PANI/Au composite is relatively unchanged in comparison. The results indicate that electrochemically reduced gold nanoparticles interact more strongly with the polymer when they are formed electrochemically.

A unique approach for fabrication of H-bonded multilayer thin films with gold nanoparticles has been reported.<sup>157</sup> This system is unique because the composite is produced without the use of an additional reducing agent. The system reveals interesting nanostructural and spectroscopic properties that require further investigation. The impact of the synthetic method remains to be determined.

The number of sensors that utilize ICP/Au composite materials is guite small. However, the optical and catalytic properties of the composites are well studied and suggest that the materials can be utilized for chemical sensing. For example, conductive polymer/gold composite materials have been used in the amperometric sensing of NO<sub>2</sub>. The analytical sensitivity of PANI/Au/Nafion composite is on the order of 2.54-1.40 mA/ppm for NO<sub>2</sub>. The material does not specifically utilize gold clusters embedded in the polymer matrix. Rather, the gold is deposited on Nafion and the polyaniline is electrochemically grown on the Nafion/Au substrate to create the Nafion/Au/PANI sandwich structure. The membrane is then used to monitor the cathodic reduction of NO<sub>2</sub>. The conductive polymer is an important component that improves the properties of the composite material. The Nafion/Au/PANI coating increases the sensitivity of the sensor relative to Au/Nafion alone.158

Aqueous-based ion sensing has been achieved using stripping analysis at gold surfaces. The motivation was primarily based on eliminating the need for mercury working electrodes in stripping analysis. Gold-modified carbon paint screen-printed electrodes were developed as an alternative to mercury-based electrodes for determination of metals such as lead, copper, and mercury.<sup>159</sup> More recently, conductive polymers have been utilized as a template for gold stripping electrode and detection of arsenic.<sup>160</sup> The composite material is prepared through the electrochemical reduction of gold in a PANI membrane formed on a glassy carbon electrode. For comparison, additional electrodes were prepared in the same manner on a pristine glassy carbon electrode without a thin layer of PANI. The work demonstrates that PANI provides a much higher surface area than glassy carbon alone that translates into higher sensitivity of the analytical device. The limit of detection for the sensor was calculated to be 0.4 ppb, well below concentrations that are considered safe.

More extensive work exists with respect to the application of conductive polymer/gold composite materials as biosensors. In many cases the gold is chemically modified to impart unique chemical characteristics that can be utilized for sensing. For example, use of gold and silver nanoparticles for glucose sensing has been recently reviewed.<sup>161</sup> This work utilized dextran rather than conductive polymers to prevent nanoparticles in solution from aggregating. Physical changes in the aggregation of gold particles in the presence of glucose were examined using the fluorescence activity of the gold at 650 nm. Use of conducting polymer/gold nanoparticles for glucose sensing has been achieved using the absorbance of the gold nanoparticles in the presence of glucose. The absorbance spectrum of polyaniline boronic acid/gold nanoparticle composite is extremely sensitive to the dielectric environment and shows a decrease in intensity of the band located at 543 nm as glucose concentration increases. The key to these sensors is the dispersion of nanoscopic gold into the polymer. In addition to the high surface area provided by the dispersion of nanoparticles of gold, the chemical properties of the nanodeposits are different from the bulk metal.<sup>162</sup> These two works were preliminary studies and did not provide any information regarding the selectivity or sensitivity of the composite systems with respect to the target analyte, glucose. These studies are examples of how ICP/Au nanoparticle composites can be utilized as glucose sensing materials. They also provide insight in the preparation and incorporation of the materials in electrochemical systems.

A more thorough study of glucose biosensing using conductive polymer/gold nanoparticle composites has been conducted.<sup>163</sup> In this study polyaniline/gold nanocomposites were produced in two steps. First, the HAuCl<sub>4</sub> was reacted with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to produce the nanoparticles of gold. This solution was then reacted with aniline to produce the composite material, PANI/Au. Electrodes were prepared by casting PANI/Au composite onto an electrode's surface, reacted with glucose oxidase, and capped with Nafion. Detection utilizes the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> produced by the PANI/Au/enzyme/Nafion when glucose reacts with glucose oxidase. The sensor produced has a dynamic range between  $1.0 \times 10^{-6}$  and  $8.0 \times 10^{-4}$  mol/L and a detection limit of  $5.0 \times 10^{-7}$  mol/L. The amperometric sensitivity was calculated to be 2.3 mA/M.

The influence of structured composites on glucose sensing has also been examined. PANI/polystyrene/Au nanoparticle rods were prepared on electrode surfaces with glucose oxidase incorporated into the membrane.164 Oxidation of glucose was examined for membranes with and without Au nanoparticles, and calibration plots were obtained for both. The membranes with Au were shown to be approximately two times more sensitive than membranes without the metal species. In addition, the structured rod membranes were 25 times more sensitive than simple membranes of the composite for equal gram weights of material used. The increase is attributed to higher surface area and a more open geometry for the rod membranes. Although there are few examples of PANI/Au composite biological sensors, the glucose studies suggest that other biosensing systems can be produced using similar enzymatic processes.

Plasma resonance sensors are quite common and have been used for a variety of surface-based sensing. In these sensors the gold nanoparticles are modified with secondary components such as antibodies, antigens, and self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) that act as signal transducers.<sup>165</sup> Interactions at the modified surface influence the localized surface plasmon resonance of the modified gold particles through changes in UV-vis absorption. The secondary components attached to the gold provide a selective interface for the target analyte to interact.<sup>166</sup> The high molar absorptivity associated with surface plasmon resonance ensures high analytical sensitivity for the devices.<sup>167</sup> A recent article has suggested that electroactive plasmonic sensors constructed from conductive polymer/metal composites may become a reality.<sup>168</sup> In this work, gold nanoparticles are sandwiched between PANI membranes and potential-dependent modulation of the surface plasmon resonance of the gold is observed. Reduction of the surface plasmon resonance is observed as PANI becomes more oxidized. This work suggested that the oxidation state of PANI might be utilized in sensing regimes based on surface plasmon resonance of the gold nanoparticles. The sensing mechanism highlights a symbiosis that exists between the polymer matrix and the gold particles being exploited in chemical sensing.

In addition, modification of gold nanocomposites can also be employed, opening other sensing pathways based on the immunoassay work discussed previously. Modification of gold surfaces is well known.<sup>169</sup> Monolayers of *n*-alkanethiol and functionalized alkanethiols have been self-assembled onto a gold surface, providing stable metal/organic surfaces that permit introduction of a variety of functional groups onto surfaces.<sup>170</sup> However, use of alkanethiol derivatives in conductive polymer/gold composites has not been thoroughly explored. One explanation could be their poor oxidative stability. The recently synthesized poly(propylenesulfide)based copolymers that chemisorbed on gold surfaces and is much more robust to oxidation as compared to alkanethiolates may lead to a novel approach for surface modification.171 Aside from that, a similar approach using thiol moieties seems logical to be transferred to conductive polymer/gold composites for gas-based sensing. The large surface area of the polymer and high dispersion of gold in the matrix should provide enhanced signal for sensor devices through the increase in surface area. More importantly, use of derivatized thiols imparts chemical selectivity to an otherwise nonselective surface. A recent review of selfassembled monolayers provides examples of thiol surfaces that have been utilized to develop selective sensors.<sup>172</sup>

#### 3.3.2. Platinum and Palladium Metal

Inherently conducting polymer/platinum or palladium composites can be formed in much the same manner as the conductive ICP/gold composite materials discussed previously. The most common method to prepare PANI/Pt composites involves direct reduction of anions such as PtCl<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> and PtCl<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup> into the polymer<sup>173</sup> or chemical synthesis of PANI in the presence of PtCl<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> and PtCl<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup>.<sup>141</sup> Similarly, synthesis of Nafion-PANI-Pd or Nafion-PANI-Pd composites on a Nafion-modified glassy carbon electrode has been accomplished.174 Synthesis of ICP-metal nanoparticle composite materials having a nanofiber-like morphology has been carried out by Mallick et al.<sup>175</sup> The nanofibers composite was synthesized using 3,5-dimethyl aniline as a polymer precursor and Pd-acetate. During the reaction 3,5-dimethyl aniline undergoes oxidation and forms poly(3,5-dimethyl aniline), whereas reduction of Pd-acetate results in formation of Pd nanoparticles. The major advantage of this procedure is that both the polymer and the nanosized metal particulates are formed simultaneously yielding a good internal electrical contact between them. The dispersed Pd nanoparticulates were all of the same size ( $\sim 2$  nm). Polyaniline–Pd nanoparticle composite was also prepared by mixing previously formed polymer with Pd nanoparticles (Pd-NPs). Oyama et al. reported that the amount of Pd-NPs dispersed within the PANI film affects it redox chemistry.<sup>176</sup> The Pd-NPs are stable as metallic state Pd(0) in the PANI–Pd composite film, whereas it exists as ionic state Pd(II) by electrochemical reaction with PANI.

Conductive polymer/Pt and conductive polymer/Pd composites have been primarily utilized in fuel cell applications and catalysis. The catalytic oxidation reactions of formic acid, methanol, ethanol, and hydrazine at platinum composites have been evaluated for fuel cell applications.<sup>177</sup> Polyaniline/ Nafion membranes with Pd have been used to examine the electrocatalytic oxidation of formic acid for fuel cell applications.<sup>178</sup> Other studies have examined the catalytic hydrogenation and oxidative coupling reactions at PANI/Pd composite materials.<sup>179</sup>

Use of conductive polymer/Pt and Pd composites for chemical sensing has been limited in comparison to development of materials for catalysis. However, there are a few studies that have identified sensing regimes that can utilize conductive/Pt and Pd composites. For example, amperometric sensing of hydrogen has been achieved at Nafion membranes containing platinum.<sup>180</sup> In this study the influence of Pt loading was examined with respect to the analytical sensitivity of the device. The results indicated that the highest sensitivity was on the order of 0.716  $\mu$ A/ppm in the concentration range of 1260-5250 ppm. Finally, hydrogen sensing using Nafion/Pt composites has been examined.<sup>181</sup> The selectivity and sensitivity of the conductive polymer/Pt composite was maximized while minimizing Pt loading in this study. The hydrogen sensor produced using the Nafion/ Pt composite had long-term stability at room temperature with an analytical sensitivity of 0.01  $\mu$ A cm<sup>-2</sup> ppm<sup>-1</sup>.

Fewer examples of conductive polymer/Pd sensors exist in the literature. The chemical sensing of methanol using PANI/Pd nanocomposites has been achieved.<sup>182</sup> The material is produced through oxidative polymerization of aniline in the presence of Pd nanoparticles. The resistance of the composite was examined as a function of methanol vapor concentration over a concentration range of 1-2000 ppm. However, saturation of the sensor was observed at concentrations higher than 10 ppm, indicating that sensor has a very small dynamic range. The response of mixtures of other alcohols with methanol did not change the response of the sensor appreciably, indicating the composite selectivity responds to methanol in the presence of possible interfering species. Finally, palladium-modified multiwalled nanotubes have been utilized in the chemical sensing of benzene at room temperature.183

Although there are few examples of conductive polymer/ Pd composite sensors in the literature, there are many examples of the use of Pd with other materials to produce sensors. Use of polystyrene/Pd nanocomposite for hydrogen sensing has been achieved.<sup>184</sup> Electrochemical detection of hydrazine has been achieved using multiwalled nanotubes "decorated" with Pd nanoparticles.<sup>185</sup> These works suggest that ICP/Pd composites may be utilized for similar sensing applications that build on the principals developed previously in the study of nonconducting polymer and CNT composites. Biosensing applications have utilized the catalytic properties of the metal component of the ICP/Pt composites. Highly dispersed Pt particles in superfine-fibrous polyaniline (PANI) synthesized on stainless steel electrode have excellent electrocatalytic activity for  $H_2O_2$  oxidation. When glucose oxidase is combined with the PANI/Pt composite the material functions as a glucose sensor. Detection of hydrogen peroxide generated in the presence of glucose oxidase is utilized to detect the sugar.<sup>186</sup> The enzyme electrode has excellent performance with a large steady-state current response. In addition, the amperometric response time to glucose is fast with minimal interference from other biological components encountered including uric and ascorbic acid. It was observed that with addition of Pt the interference from uric and ascorbic acid was greatly diminished and minimized.

In summary, ICPs can be utilized for dispersion of metal species in place of other materials to produce composites with similar or new sensing properties. Specifically, catalytic reactions and sensing regimes that utilize Pd and Pt particles and conductive polymers should be examined more thoroughly. When possible, sensing applications that utilize nonconductive/metal composites should be reevaluated with ICPs. The advantages of high electron density and potentialdependent control of the oxidation state of the conductive polymer should be utilized and when possible evaluated with respect to known sensing mechanisms.

#### 3.3.3. Copper and Nickel Metal

Although Au, Pt, and Pd are the most common metallic species that have been used to produce ICP/metal composites, Cu and Ni have also received some attention. Use of PANI/ Cu for detection of chloroform vapor at ppm levels has been tested.<sup>187</sup> The composite was prepared by adding copper colloid during chemical polymerization of aniline. It was used as a pressed pellet for sensing applications where the composite functioned as a chemoresistor. On the basis of FTIR spectra and a comparative study of a neat PANI it was concluded that the unique surface activity of Cu nanoparticles plays a major role in the reproducible and reversible response of the composite to chloroform vapor.

Free-standing PANI/Ni film with a Ni content as high as 4.12% was prepared by a simple one-step electrochemical method.<sup>188</sup> It was shown that the size and distribution of the Ni deposits are influenced by the electrolytic bath composition and potential sweep rate. In addition, the PANI matrix exhibited excellent ferromagnetism after incorporation of Ni. It was determined that the electrical conductance of PANI was also modified by the presence of Ni in the polymer matrix.<sup>189</sup> For example, the conductivity of the composite was lower than that of neat PANI. The decrease in conductivity was attributed to the partial blockage of the conductive path by the Ni particles embedded in the polymer matrix. The synthesis of PANI/Ni/PANI composite materials has also been achieved using layer-by-layer deposition.<sup>190</sup> The composite was characterized electrochemically. It was shown that the nickel-nanoclusters induce changes in the structural morphology of PANI matrix, influencing the electrooxidation of PANI chains. In addition, the clusters cause bridging between the PANI chains/fibrils, promoting delocalization of electrons within the polymer.

A more novel application can be envisioned that utilizes the electrocatalytic activity of Ni/PANI and NiMo/PANI layers.<sup>191</sup> The materials show promise as catalytic materials for chemical and biological sensors. In addition, alloying nickel with transition metals (W, Mo, Fe) should increase the intrinsic electrocatalytic activity. Furthermore, the magnetic alloys can act as functional components for the separation of biorecognition complexes and amplified electrochemical sensing of DNA or antigen/antibody complexes. Preliminary studies on sensing properties of nickel incorporated into a Nafion have been conducted.<sup>192</sup> Potentialdependent switching of a magnetic responsive composite of 2.5  $\mu$ M Nafion with 300 nm Ni particles obtained through a standard ion-exchange method as a function of applied current has been observed. Within a proper operational range of  $\pm 0.7$  V, Ni-doped multifield responsive, ionic polymer metal composite shows good paramagnetic characteristics and excellent electric responsive properties without oxidationinduced performance degradation.

#### 3.3.4. Metal Oxides

Composites containing conductive polymers with metal oxides, TiO<sub>2</sub>, ZrO<sub>2</sub>, and WO<sub>3</sub> to name a few, have been produced. These composites minimize the need to operate at high temperature (300-500 °C), typical of bulk metal oxides. Composite sensors produced using ICP/metal oxides have enhanced stability and respond to both oxidizing  $(NO_2)$ and reducing gases (CO<sub>2</sub>, CO, H<sub>2</sub>). It is documented that the method of preparation of TiO<sub>2</sub> or SiO<sub>2</sub> influences the operating temperature. More recently it has been shown that sensors prepared from sol-gel microstructures of TiO<sub>2</sub> and SiO<sub>2</sub> can be operated at temperatures as low as 200 °C with high stability in the presence of CO and NO<sub>2</sub> gas.<sup>193</sup> TiO<sub>2</sub> and SiO<sub>2</sub> have been added to solutions containing aniline monomer and the chemical oxidant ammonium persulfate to form the sol-gel composite.<sup>194</sup> These materials show very high thermal stability with 75% retention of mass at temperatures in excess of 800 °C. Although these materials were not used as chemical sensors, the study demonstrates the high stability of these materials.

Use of ICP/TiO<sub>2</sub>, SiO<sub>2</sub> nanocomposites for CO gas sensing has been examined, but the study is not detailed and does not provide either the dynamic concentration range for CO gas or the analytical sensitivity of the device prepared from the composite.<sup>195</sup> In addition, there is no attempt to examine possible interference from other gases. However, the study does demonstrate the response of the composite material to CO gas at room temperature. This study is important because it demonstrated that elevated temperatures are not required to observed changes in conductivity/resistance of the PANI/ TiO<sub>2</sub>, SiO<sub>2</sub> composite. It suggests that the ICP and nanostructure of the TiO<sub>2</sub> and SiO<sub>2</sub> deposits are important for lowering the operating temperatures of gas sensors when compared to bulk films.

Polypyrrole-, polyaniline-, or polyhexylthiophene-coated  $SnO_2$  or  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles were also prepared using the selfassembly (SLB) procedure.<sup>196</sup> The process was repeated multiple times to obtain the desired thickness of the nanocomposite films. The ultrathin films were used for CO, aromatic hydrocarbon, and NO<sub>2</sub> sensing applications. The change in resistance at room temperature upon exposure to NO<sub>2</sub> was recorded, decreasing exponentially with concentration. The results suggest that the gas may act as a dopant for the conducting polymer. The material demonstrated high sensitivity with large changes in resistance at all concentrations. It is worth noting that the response showed thickness dependence with instantaneous and highly reproducible response as the film thickness decreased. In addition, the thin films are better for low gas (ppb) detection levels. The composites demonstrated higher sensitivity, stability, and reversibility when compared to neat ICP films. In addition, elevated operating temperatures were not required, with polyhexylthiophene/SnO<sub>2</sub> nanocomposite films exhibiting good detection characteristics at room temperature. Additional studies of metal oxides doped with platinum and palladium have been examined. For example, surface-doped tin nanoparticles show a large increase of sensitivity in humid air and a surprising inversion of sensitivity toward carbon monoxide in dry atmosphere (relative humidity  $\approx 5\%$ ) when going from undoped to Pd- or Pt-doped sensors.<sup>197</sup>

These studies are preliminary in nature and demonstrate the influence of metal doping on metal oxides. The impact of these systems remains to be evaluated. In contrast, the ICP/SnO<sub>2</sub> or TiO<sub>2</sub> composite systems have been shown to be one of the most interesting nanostructured materials for gas-sensing application. These materials show an excellent change in conductivity at room temperature and possess excellent optical and catalytic properties that can be utilized to develop chemical sensors.

#### 3.3.5. Metal Phthalocyanines and Porphyrins

The composite materials produced from ICP and phthalocyanines demonstrate high electrical conductivity consistent with the properties of the polymer. For example, polyaniline/ phthalocyanine (PANI/Pc) and polypyrrole/phthalocyanine (PPy/Pc) films have been prepared electrochemically on platinum electrodes from aqueous solutions containing pyrrole or aniline and a salt of the oligomeric nickel or cobalt phthalocyanine.<sup>198</sup> Incorporation of large anions based on oligomeric metal/phthalocyanines and polypyrrole or polyaniline favors cation insertion during their normal redox process. In contrast to PPv/NiPPc or PPv/CoPc, PANI/NiPPc is depositing only in very thin films. The proton transport was found to be responsible for maintaining the electroneutrality inside the film during cycling.<sup>199</sup> The conductivity for PANI/CoPC composites decreases from that of pure PANI, PANI/PVC, or PANI/PMMA.<sup>200</sup>

Few examples exist for the use of ICP/phthalocyanine composites in chemical sensors. Polyaniline/Cu–phthalocyanine (PANI/CuPc), polypyrrole/Cu–phthalocyanine (PPy/CuPc), and polythiophene/Cu–phthalocyanine (PT/CuPc) have all been examined as gas sensors for vapors such as methanol, ammonia, and nitrogen dioxide. These composites have limited sensitivity to methanol or ammonia gas. However, all polymer composites showed enhanced sensitivity to gas vapors relative to the conductive polymer alone. Increases in analytical sensitivities with respect to nitrogen dioxide gas were on the order of  $10^3$  depending on the phthalocyanine concentration in the composite. The study neglects discussing or demonstrating the enhanced properties of the composite relative to phthalocyanine films without the polymer.

PANI/phthalocyanines (PANI/MePc, Me = Fe, Ni, or Cu), prepared by a layer-by-layer (LBL) method, have been used to detect dopamine by cyclic voltammetry.<sup>201</sup> Composites produced using PANI/PcFe demonstrated superior sensing properties for dopamine in comparison to polyvinyl chloride/ phthalocyanine or PANI/NiPc or PANI/CuPc. The concentration range accessible for PANI/FePc composite was from 0.25 to 8 mM, and the detection limit was  $1.0 \times 10^{-4}$  M. Differences in the voltammetric response were observed as the metal center of the phthalocyanine composites was changed. However, all materials were able to distinguish the dopamine from ascorbic acid based on electrochemical oxidation of the species. The membranes are extremely stable, showing little chemical degradation of the composite after multiple sensing experiments.

The use of metallophthalocyanine as a component of polymeric membrane ion-selective electrodes has the advantages that the active component is not leaching out and does not readily decompose. Modified carbon electrode with hybrid films of poly(o-aminophenol) and nickel sulfonated phthalocyanine produced by electrochemical polymerization of o-aminophenol in the presence of the metal complex has been used in electrochemical sensors for nitric oxide detection.<sup>202</sup> The oxidation peak current is linear with concentrations up to 200  $\mu$ M of NO. Overall, phthalocyanines show promise as chemical sensor materials because they are stable with reactive centers that allow the sensing properties to be manipulated, and they can easily be incorporated into ICPs. However, further studies are required to fully adapt these macrocyclic materials to composite materials for chemical sensing.

#### 3.4. Composites with Biological Materials

The emerging trends in biosensors based on ICPs, covering approximately the last 5 years, have been described in the literature.<sup>203</sup> Various methods have been investigated for biosensing applications using ICP and biomaterials composites. In contrast to environmental-based sensing, the materials used to create the composite must be biocompatible to be used in vivo. These materials should be inert and provide high loading of the biologically specific component with minimal leaching. A recent review has been presented regarding the advantage of ICP membrane-based biosensors.<sup>204</sup> Although biosensing continues to expand encompassing enzymatic systems, proteins (amino acids), DNA, antibodies, and antigens, the vast majority of systems incorporate enzymes and the biologically active material. These systems use enzymes that are affixed, immobilized, or encapsulated in a variety of matrix materials.

The primary advantages of ICPs over other possible matrices include the enhanced speed, stability, and sensitivity of enzyme biosensors. Incorporation of single enzymes or groups of enzymes provides the biosensor selectivity to either single or multiple biological components. The ICP acts as the transducer, converting the chemical response into electric current. Synthesis of the material usually involves chemical or electrochemical polymerization in the presence of an enzyme. However, in some cases the polymers functional groups can be used to covalently attach the enzyme to the matrix. Common analytes include species such as glucose, cholesterol, urea, and uric acid due to their biological relevance with respect to the health of an individual. A few examples are provided to demonstrate how conductive polymer/enzyme composites have been utilized for biosensing applications.

Use of ICPs in the design of bioanalytical sensors has primarily focused on polypyrrole (PPy) and polyaniline (PANI) because they are biologically compatible and do not dissolve in water. Immobilization of biologically active molecules within PPy during electrochemical polymerization has been examined.<sup>205</sup> The polymers have also gained recognition in the field of mimicking natural sensing organs by combining electromechanical actuators with the ability to control biological processes in drug delivery systems.<sup>206</sup> Daily glucose monitoring is an important factor in the management of diabetes. The enzyme, glucose oxidase, has been successfully incorporated into chitosan-PANI membranes.<sup>207</sup> Inclusion of chitosan provides chemical-binding sites to affix the enzyme, increases the stability, and prevents leaching of the enzyme. A near linear increase in the current associated with 5 mM glucose is observed for the layer-by-layer growth of chitosan/polyaniline/glucose oxidase sensor. The current associated with glucose oxidation is not saturated over the first 12 layers. The sensor produced using 12 layers shows linearity in the concentration range from 0.5 to 16 mM. In comparison to the chitosan/glucose oxidase sensors, inclusion of PANI increases the dynamic concentration range and decreases the time required to reach the steady-state response by a factor of 2.

Amperometric biosensors have been prepared using conducive polymers such as PANI and PPy with the enzyme tyrosinase.<sup>208</sup> Tyrosinase is used to monitor the oxidation of phenolic residues that can be found in air, soil, and water. The release of phenol compounds is typically associated with decomposition of plastics and plasticides, pesticides, and paper processing. Phenolic residues are easily absorbed in humans through ingestion, transdermal uptake, and inhalation. The enzymatic response of a PANI/tyrosinase composite membrane is demonstrated for phenol. Although the authors demonstrate that the composite can be used in the oxidative detection of phenolic species, they fail to fully evaluate the figures of merit for the sensor material. Specifically, the authors do not evaluate the dynamic concentration range, limit of detection, and analytical sensitivity. In contrast the PPy/tyrosinase composite was fully characterized with respect to phenol, catechol, and p-chlorophenol. The PPy/ tyrosinase sensor was sensitive to phenol, catechol, and *p*-chlorophenol over concentration ranges from 9.9 to 84.7, 6.7 to 72.6, and 3.9 to 48.8 mM, respectively. Sensitivities for phenol, catechol, and p-chlorophenol of 0.14, 0.21, and 0.36 A M<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> were obtained. Detection limits for the three components were between 1 and 2 mM, much lower than previous examples of tyrosinase sensors in the literature. Finally, the long-term stability of the PPy/tyrosinase was found to be superior to conventional biosensors used for detection of phenolic residues.

The link between high cholesterol and heart disease has provided the impetus required for development of cholesterol biosensors. Composites of conductive polymer with the enzymes cholesterol esterase and cholesterol oxidase have been utilized as biosensors.<sup>209</sup> The studies provide a simple method for producing cholesterol sensors that are thermally and chemically stable with good analytical sensitivity. In both studies the enzyme is covalently linked to prevent enzymatic leaching in solution. In addition, the covalent linkages improve the stability of the sensor over a 5 week period. The optimum pH range for detection of cholesterol oleate was determined to be between 7.0 and 7.5 in these studies. Temperature also influences the sensor response with optimum conditions observed at 45 °C. These studies provided a dynamic concentration range of 1-500 mg/dL, a detection limit of 25 mg/dL, and analytical sensitivity of 0.042 mA  $(mg/dL)^{-1}$  for the conductive polymer/enzyme composite sensors.

Incorporation of uricase into conducting polymers for evaluation of uric acid biological samples has been examined. In the first study, polyaniline was synthesized in the ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium-ethyl sulfate (EMIES).<sup>210</sup>

The conductive polymer membranes prepared in the ionic solution show high electric conductivity up to pH values of 12. In addition, the polymer has been shown to have high flexibility and good mechanical properties. Acetaminophen, glutathione, L-cysteine, and ascorbic acid were combined with solutions containing uric acid (0.5 mmol dm<sup>-3</sup>) and compared to the response of uric acid alone. The biosensor composites produced from PANI/uricase prepared in ionic liquid are resistant to interference and impurities in comparison to PANI/uricase prepared in acid solutions. The sensor displays a linear dynamic concentration range of uric acid between  $1.0 \times 10^{-3}$  and  $1.0 \text{ mmol dm}^{-3}$ . The authors do not provide a measure of the analytical sensitivity of the composite prepared in ionic liquid. However, the response is significantly enhanced relative to uric acid sensing using PANI prepared in acid. Although the authors state that uricase is immobilized in the polymer matrix, the enzyme actually acts as a dopant, with no covalent contact with polymer.

Immobilization of uricase into PANI membranes has also been achieved, and the biosensing of uric acid has been evaluated using the composite.<sup>211</sup> Covalent bonding of uricase is achieved in PANI using glutaraldehyde as a cross-linker. The covalent bond keeps the enzyme immobilized in the polymer matrix and enhances the stability of the sensor membrane, remaining 95% active after 18 weeks. The authors also demonstrate that the composite with immobilized uricase is superior to PANI/uricase composite produced through simple doping of the polymer. The response of the composite to uric acid displays two linear ranges with respect to concentration between 0.01 and 0.05 mM and 0.1 and 0.6 mM. The analytical sensitivity obtained from the calibration is 47.2 mA nM<sup>-1</sup> at low concentrations and 10.66 mA nM<sup>-1</sup> at higher concentrations. Optimum results are obtained at temperatures between 30 and 35 °C and pH values of 6.5 with limited activity up to pH 8. The influence of possible interference from other biologically relevant species was also examined using the PANI/uricase composite. The sensor showed little activity with respect to urea, glucose, ascorbic acid, cholesterol, and lactic acid. The authors also examined serum samples using the composite and compared the results to spectroscopic measurement of uric acid. The results are very similar, indicating the composite can measure uric acid in real biological samples.

#### 4. Conclusions and Outlook

This review of the trends in the synthesis and application of ICP composites in chemical sensing demonstrates the versatility of these materials. It highlights the concept that rational design of composites can be utilized to develop novel sensing materials with improved properties such as enhanced resistance to humidity, lower detection limits, increased sensitivity, lower sensing temperatures, and enhanced stability. The simple application of combinatorial chemistry techniques can be used to produce large volumes of sensor material. However, this approach does not represent the rational design of composite sensors. Rational design requires that a more fundamental understanding of the properties of the ICP and secondary component be evaluated independently and as a combined entity. Knowledge of the individual materials and the changes associated with the combined species provides the necessary guidance for enhancing favorable and reducing unfavorable attributes. The design of a sensor can only proceed with a fundamental understanding of the chemical, physical, and mechanical properties of the composite materials. When these parameters are understood they can be utilized to develop sensors with designed reactivity, sensitivity, and selectivity.

It is apparent that not all of the unique, tunable properties that are observed in composite materials have been utilized for chemical sensor applications. However, the enhanced properties of the composites, relative to each of the individual material, have been used extensively in other applications including batteries, fuel cells, and catalyst. In addition, the extensive knowledge of functional components including organized mixed monolayers on gold nanoparticles is just starting to be applied to the design of diverse sensors.

Furthermore, a complete understanding of the properties of the individual components influence the sensing properties of the composite has not been extensively studied. For example, charge propagation in the composite, the limits of charge mobility through the composite, the true effect of water vapor, oxygen, or light on the interaction of analyte with the composite, and how the applied processing method of the composite influences the properties are all factors that must be addressed. The rational development of composite materials that provide enhanced sensing capabilities should use standardized methods for evaluation of ICP and ICP composites, respectively. This approach would allow comparison of sensing results achieved with different layers and also could contribute to the rapid progression of the design and implementation of novel materials in sensing applications.

Further developments in metal nanomaterials and their electronic properties, chemical functionalization, and catalytic properties will continue to impact the sensor field. Development of methodologies to control the shape, size, and range of distribution of CNTs and metal clusters within ICP matrices is required. In addition, characterization of the chemical and physical properties of ICP composite is required to fully understand the influence of secondary components on the sensing properties. It is impossible to control the properties of the secondary component if the properties of the ICP matrix are not fully understood. Identification of new properties of nanomaterials requires new methods for the preparation or assembly of usable composite structures. The work of Penner and co-workers is an example that demonstrates how new methods can be utilized in the preparation of naked (palladium) and bimetallic beaded nanowires ranging in diameter from tens of nanometers to 1  $\mu$ m. These materials are used in the detection of hydrogen gas.<sup>212</sup> Further work is required to develop applications for structured nanowire materials. In contrast to CNTs and in spite of the enormous progress in synthesizing and structural characterization of metal oxide nanowires such as SnO<sub>2</sub>, ZnO, and TiO<sub>2</sub>, few of these structured materials have been utilized in gas sensors for detection of common gases such as CO,<sup>213</sup> O<sub>2</sub>,<sup>214</sup> or water vapor.<sup>215</sup> The advantages of metal oxides have been shown with respect to lowering the required operation temperature of the analytical sensor.

Implementation of new building blocks that can be used to assemble 1-D nanowires<sup>216</sup> or nanoparticles to produce 2-D nanofilms<sup>217</sup> have been reviewed but not yet implemented in the design of novel ICP composites. There has been progress in making supercrystals that are produced from rare-earth oxides  $M_2O_3$  (M = Pr, Nd, Sm, Eu, Gd, Tb, Dy) that are uniformly and spontaneously assembled to form nanorods, nanowires, and nanoplates.<sup>218</sup> Ultranarrow semiconductors (ZnS, ZnSe, CdS, CdSe) with tunable subnanometer increments have been produced using microwave irradiation.<sup>219</sup> Nanorods with a controllable interparticle spacing have been achieved using capping agents of varying alkyl chain lengths.<sup>220</sup> In addition, the recently developed theoretical description of the evolution of an ensemble of nanoparticles in colloidal solution used to control the nanocrystal monodispersity of semiconductors and magnetic alloy nanocrystals as building blocks of 2-D and 3-D arrays and colloidal supercrystals should find application in developing advanced sensing layers.<sup>221</sup> These studies highlight the advancement of synthetic methods to produce new, unique materials that can be utilized to produce new composite materials.

New electronic, optical, and mechanical properties that are interesting to solid-state electrochemical and optical sensors may be obtained from inorganic fullerene-like  $WS_2$  and  $MoS_2$  polyhedra and nanotubes which are capable of modulating the energy gap with shrinking diameter. In this respect they are prevalent as compared to many of the bulk 2D materials because they exhibit a direct gap rather than an indirect gap transition.<sup>222</sup> Their thermodynamic stability and the ability to fine tune the Fermi level by doping and intercalation of metal atoms makes them novel materials for sensor applications because their catalytic properties can be controlled.<sup>223</sup>

In summary, the next generation of ICP materials for chemical sensors should be able to balance their processability with their sensing performance with regard to faster response times, sensitivity, selectivity, lower detection limits, and larger dynamic concentration ranges. It should be feasible to control the molecular structure and morphology when the material is processed in order to address the issue of analyte sorption and diffusion. Additionally, controlling or tailoring the properties of the interface can be used to minimize charge trapping and contact resistance within the sensor device structure. Any sensor should incorporate an understanding of the properties of each component independently while evaluating the new properties of the composite. Rational sensor design that utilizes the combined chemical, physical, and mechanical properties of the composite materials is crucial in the development of selective, sensitive sensing mechanisms.

#### 5. Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the NSF Grant CHE 0452045 (M.J.) and DOE Grant DE-FG36-05GO85028 (D.W.H.).

#### 6. References

- Wang, H.-L.; Li, W.; Jia, Q. X.; Akhadov, E. Chem. Mater. 2007, 19, 520.
- (2) Heeger Alan, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40 (14), 2591.
- (3) Persaud, P.; Krishna, C. Mater. Today 2005, 8 (4), 44.
- (4) Pron, A.; Rannou, P. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2001, 27 (1), 135. Jagur-Grodzinski J. Polym. Adv. Technol. 2002, 13 (9), 615. Malinauskas, A. Polymer 2001, 42 (9), 3972.
- (5) Handbook of Conductive Molecules and Polymers; Nalva, H. S., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons Ltd.: Chichester, 1997; Vols. 1–4.
- (6) Potje-Kamloth, K; Polk, B. J.; Josowicz, M.; Janata, J. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14 (6), 2782.
- (7) Polk, B. J.; Potje-Kamloth, K.; Josowicz, M.; Janata, J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106 (44), 11457.
- (8) Kaiser A. B. Rep. Prog. Phys. 2001, 64 (1), 1.
- (9) Guernion, N. J. L.; Hayes, W. Curr. Org. Chem. 2004, 8 (7), 637.
- (10) Sasaki, I.; Janata, J.; Josowicz, M. Polym. Degrad. Stab. 2007, 92 (7), 1408.
- (11) McQuade, D. T.; Pullen, A. E.; Swager, T. M. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2537.

- (12) Hua, B.; Shi, G. Sens.-Basel 2007, 7 (3), 267. Nicolas-Debarnot, D.; Poncin-Epaillard, F. Anal. Chim. Acta 2003, 475, 1. Potje-Kamloth, K. Crit. Rev. Anal. Chem. 2002, 32 (2), 121. Adhikari, B.; Majumdar, S. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2004, 29 (7), 699.
- (13) Josowicz, M. Chem. Anal. 2001, 46 (2), 161. Bailey, R. A.; Persaud, K. C. Polym. Sens. Actuators 2000, 149.
- (14) Janata, J.; Josowicz, M. Nat. Mater. 2003, 2 (1), 19. Petr, A.; Zhang,
   F.; Peisert, H.; Knupfer, M.; Dunsch, L. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2004, 385 (1, 2), 140.
- (15) Bissell, R. A.; Persuade, K. C.; Travers, P. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2002, 4, 3482.
- (16) Maksymiuk, K. Electroanalysis 2006, 18, 1537.
- (17) Bret, C. M. A.; Thiemann C. J. *Electroanal. Chem.* 2002, 58, 215.
   Bobacka, J. *Electroanalysis* 2006, 18 (1), 7. Michalska, A. *Pol. Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2006, 384 (2), 391.
- (18) Trojanowicz, M. Microchim. Acta 2003, 143 (2-3), 75. Bobacka,
   J.; Ivaska, A.; Lewenstam, A. Electroanalysis 2003, 15 (5-6), 366.
   Maksymiuk, K. Electroanalysis 2006, 18, 1537.
- (19) Lin, J. Trends Anal. Chem. 2000, 19 (9), 541. Gazotti, W. A.; Nogueira, A. F.; Girotto, E. M.; Micaroni, L.; Martini, M.; das Neves, S.; De Paoli, M.-A. Handbook Adv. Electron. Photon. Mater. Devices 2001, 10, 53.
- (20) Sinha, N; Ma, J.; Yeow, J. T. W. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 2006, 6
  (3), 573. Snow, E. S.; Perkins, F. K.; Robinson, J. A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2006, 35, 790. Stetter, J. R.; Maclay, G. J. Adv. Micro. Nanosys. 2004, 1, 357. Merkoci, A.; Pumera, M.; Llopis, X.; Perez, B.; del Valle, M.; Alegret, S. Trends Anal. Chem. 2005, 24 (9), 826. Moulton, S. E.; Minett, A. I. Sens. Lett. 2005, 3 (3), 183, Sherigara, B. S.; Kutner, W.; D'Souza, F. Electroanalysis 2003, 15 (9), 753.
- (21) Schöonenberger, C. Semicond. Sci. Technol. 2006, 21, 51. Dresselhaus, M.; Dresselhaus, G.; Avouris, P. H. Carbon Nanotubes: Synthesis, Structure, Properties and Applications; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 2001. Tanaka, K.; Okada, M.; Huang, Y. The Science and Technology of Carbon Nanotubes; Tanaka, K., Yamabe, T., Fukui, K., Eds.; Elsevier: Oxford, 1999.
- (22) McEuen, P. L. *Phys. World* **2000**, 31. Fuhrer, M. S.; Nygard, J.; Shih, L.; Forero, M.; Yoon, Y. G.; Mazzoni, M. S. C.; Choi, H. J.; Ihm, J.; Louie, S. G.; Zettl, A.; McEuen, P. L. *Science* **2000**, 288, 494.
- (23) Snow, E. S.; Perkins, F. K.; Robinson, J. A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2006, 35 (9), 790.
- (24) Rice, P.; Wallis, T. M.; Russek, S. E.; Kabos, P. Nano Lett. 2007, 4, 1086.
- (25) Schönenberger, C.; Bachtold, A.; Strunk, C.; Salvetat, J.-P.; Forro, L. Appl. Phys. A **1999**, 69, 283. Bachtold, A.; Fuhrer, M. S.; Plyasunov, S.; Forero, M.; Anderson, E. H.; Zettl, A.; McEuen, P. L. Phys. Rev. Lett. **2000**, 84, 6082.
- (26) Dai, L.; Soundarrajan, P.; Kim, T. Pure Appl. Chem. 2002, 74 (9), 1753. Migone, A. D.; Talapatra, S. Encyclopedia Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 2004, 3, 749. Li, J.; Ng, H. T. Encyclopedia of Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 2004, 1, 591. Parikh, K.; Cattanach, K.; Rao, R.; Suh, D. S.; Wu, A. M.; Manohar, S. K. Sens. Actuators B 2006, 113 (1), 55. Li, J.; Lu, Y.; Ye, Q.; Cinke, M.; Han, J.; Meyyappan, M. Nano Lett. 2003, 3 (7), 929.
- (27) Luong, J. H. T.; Hrapovic, S.; Wang, D.; Benseba, F.; Simard, B. Electroanalysis 2004, 16 (1-2), 132.
- (28) Ye, J. S.; Sheu, F. S. Curr. Nanosci. 2006, 2 (4), 319. Trojanowicz, M. Trends Anal. Chem. 2006, 25 (5), 480. Gong, K.; Yan, Y.; Zhang, M.; Su, L.; Xiong, S.; Mao, L. Anal. Sci. 2005, 21 (12), 1383. Merkoci, A. Microchim. Acta 2006, 152 (3-4), 157. He, P.; Dai, L. BioMEMS Biomed. Nanotechnol. 2006, 1, 171. Portney, N. G.; Ozkan, M. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2006, 384 (3), 620. Burghard, M. Small 2005, 1 (12), 1148, Lin, Y. H.; Wang, J. Electroanalysis 2005, 17 (1), 7. Yantasee, W.; Wang, J. Front. Biosci. 2005, 10, 492. Fernando, K. A. S.; Lin, Y.; Sun, Y. P. Langmuir 2004, 20, 4777. Bahr, J. L.; Tour, J. M. J. Mater. Chem. 2002, 12, 1952. Sun, Y.-P.; Fu, K.; Lin, Y.; Huang, W. Acc. Chem. Res. 2002, 35, 1096. Chen, J.; Rao, A. M.; Lyuksyutov, S.; Itkis, M. E.; Hamon, M. A; Hu, H. R.; Cohn, W.; Eklund, P. C.; Colbert, D. T.; Smalley, R. E.; Haddon, R. C. J. Phys. Chem. B 2001, 105, 2525.
- (29) Banerjee, S.; Hemraj-Benny, T.; Wong, S. S. Adv. Mater. 2005, 17
  (1), 17. Velasco-Santos, C.; Martinez-Hernandez, A. L.; Castano, V. M. Composite Interfaces 2005, 11 (8–9), 567. Lin, Y.; Hill, D. E.; Bentley, J.; Allard, L. F.; Sun, Y. P. J. Phys. Chem. B 2003, 107 (38), 10453.
- (30) Ballesteros, B.; de la Torre, G; Ehli, C.; Rahman, G. M. A.; Agullo-Rueda, F.; Guldi, D. M.; Torres, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129 (16), 5061.
- (31) Teker, K.; Sirdeshmukh, Ra.; Sivakumar, K.; Lu, S.; Wickstrom, E.; Wang, H.-N.; Vo-Dinh, T.; Panchapakesan, B. *NanoBiotechnol.* 2005, *1* (2), 171.
- (32) Wang, T.; Hu, X. G.; Qu, X. H.; Dong, S. J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110 (13), 6631.

- (33) Tasis, D.; Tagmatarchis, N.; Orato, M. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, 1105, Burghard, M. Surf. Sci. Rep. 2005, 58 (1-4), 1.
- (34) Li, T. X.; Ji, Y. L.; Yu, S. W.; Wang, G. H. Solid State Commun. 2000, 116, 547.
- (35) Landman, U. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2005, 102, 6671.
- (36) Gittins, D. I.; Bethell, D.; Schiffrin, D. J.; Nichols, R. J. Nature 2000, 408, 67. Lahtinen, R. M.; Mertens, S. F. L.; East, E.; Kiely, C. J.; Schiffrin, D. J. Langmuir 2004, 20, 3289. Kariuki, N. N.; Luo, J.; Maye, M. M.; Hassan, A.; Menard, T.; Naslund, H. R.; Lin, Y.; Wang, C.; Engelhard, M. H.; Zhong, C. J. Langmuir 2004, 20, 11240. Mallin, M. P.; Murphy, C. J. Nano Lett. 2002, 2, 1235. Rodriguez-Gonzalez, B.; Sanchez-Iglesias, A.; Giersig, M.; Liz-Marzan, L. M. Discuss. Faraday Soc. 2004, 125, 133. Zamborini, F. P.; Hicks, J. F.; Murray, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 4514. Templeton, A. C.; Zamborini, F. P.; Wuelfing, W. P.; Murray, R. W. Langmuir **2000**, *16*, 6682. Wuelfing, W. P.; Zamborini, F. P.; Templeton, A. C.; Wen, X. G.; Yoon, H.; Murray, R. W. Chem. Mater. **2001**, *13*, 87. Taton, T. A.; Mucic, R. C.; Mirkin, C. A.; Letsinger, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6305. Storhoff, J. J.; Lazarides, A. A.; Mucic, R. C.; Mirkin, C. A.; Letsinger, R. L.; Schatz, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 4640. Mbindyo, J. K. N.; Reiss, B. D.; Martin, B. R.; Keating, C. D.; Natan, M. J.; Mallouk, T. E. Adv. Mater. 2001, 13, 249. Kariuki, N. N.; Han, L.; Ly, N. K.; Patterson, M. J.; Maye, M. M.; Liu, G. J.; Zhong, C. J. Langmuir 2002, 18, 8255. Boal, A. K.; Rotello, V. M. Langmuir 2000, 16, 9527. Chen, S. W.; Pei, R. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10607. Kim, B.; Tripp, S. L.; Wei, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7955. Shon, Y.-S.; Choo, H. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2560. Guldi, D. M.; Zilbermann, I.; Anderson, G.; Kotov, N. A.; Tagmatarchis, N.; Prato, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14340. Boal, A. K.; Ilhan, F.; DeRouchey, J. E.; Thurn-Albrecht, T.; Russell, T. P.; Rotello, V. M. Nature 2000, 404, 746. Srivastava, S.; Frankamp, B. L.; Rotello, V. M. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 487. Zeng, W. X.; Maye, M. M.; Leibowitz, F. L.; Zhong, C. J. Anal. *Chem.* **2000**, *72*, *2*190. Han, L.; Maye, M. M.; Leibowitz, F. L.; Ly, N. K.; Zhong, C. J. J. Mater. Chem. **2001**, *11*, 1258. Han, L.; Daniel, D. R.; Maye, M. M.; Zhong, C. J. Anal. Chem. 2001, 73, 4441. Lim, I.-I. S.; Maye, M. M.; Luo, J.; Zhong, C. J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 2578.
- (37) Guczi, L.; Beck, A.; Horvath A.; Horvath, D. Top. Catal. 2002, 19, 157.
- (38) Kondow, T.; Mafune, F. Progress in Experimental and Theoretical Studies of Clusters (Advanced Series in Physical Chemistry); World Scientific Publishing Co.: London, 2003. Metal Clusters in Chemistry; Braunstein, P., Oro, L. A., Raithby, P. R., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2000.
- (39) Meiwes-Broer, K.-H. Metal Clusters at Surfaces: Structure, Quantum Properties, Physical Chemistry; Springer: New York, 2000. Kawazoe, Y.; Kondow, T.; Ohno, K. Clusters & Nanomaterials; Springer: New York, 2001.
- (40) Klimov, V. I. Semiconductor and Metal Nanocrystals: Synthesis and Electronic and Optical Properties (Optical Engineering); CRS: Enfield, 2003.
- (41) Heilmann, A. Polymer Films with Embedded Metal Nanoparticles; Springer: New York, 2002.
- (42) Capek, I. Nanocomposite structures and dispersions; Elsevier Science: New York, 2006.
- (43) Kiely, C. J.; Fink, J.; Brust, M.; Bethell, D.; Schiffrin, D. J. *Nature* **1998**, *396*, 444.
- (44) Heiz, U.; Bullock, E. L. J. Mater. Chem. 2004, 14, 564.
- (45) Landmann, U.; Heiz, U. Nanocatalysis; Springer: New York, 2007.
- (46) Daniel, M.-C.; Astruc, D. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104 (1), 293.
- (47) Pasquato, L.; Pengo, P.; Scrimin, P. J. Mater. Chem. 2004, 14 (24), 3481.
- (48) Song, Y.; Murray, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7096.
- (49) Lim, I.-I. S.; Maye, M. M.; Luo, J.; Zhong, C. J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 2578.
- (50) Stroyuk, A. L.; Shvalagin, V. V.; Kuchmii, S. Y. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A: Chem. 2005, 173 185.
- (51) Sun, S. H.; Murray, C. B.; Weller, D.; Folks, L.; Moser, A. Science 2000, 287, 1989. Sun, S. H.; Fullerton, E. E.; Weller, D.; Murray, C. B. *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 2001, *37*, 1239.
- (52) (a) Lu, G. Q.; Wieckowski, A. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 2000, 5, 95. Roucoux, A.; Schulz, J.; Patin, H. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3757. Long, J. W.; Stroud, R. M.; Swider-Lyons, K. E.; Rolison, D. R. J. Phys. Chem. B 2000, 104, 9772. Schadt, M.; Lin, Y.; Naslund, H. R.; Zhong, C. J. Catal. Today 2005, 99, 291. Maye, M. M.; Kariuki, N. N.; Luo, J.; Han, L.; Njoki, P.; Wang, L.; Lin, Y.; Naslund, H. R.; Zhong, C. J. Gold Bull. 2004, 37, 217. Zhong, C. J.; Luo, J.; Maye, M. M.; Han, L.; Kariuki, N. N. Nanostructured Gold and Alloy Electrocatalysts. In Nanotechnology in Catalysis; Zhou, B., Hermans, S., Somorjai, G. A., Eds.; Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers: New York, 2004; Vol. 1, Chapter 11, pp 222.

- (53) Kariuki, N. N.; Luo, J.; Maye, M. M.; Hassan, A.; Menard, T.; Naslund, H. R.; Lin, Y.; Wang, C.; Engelhard, M. H.; Zhong, C. J. *Langmuir* **2004**, *20*, 11240. Mallin, M. P.; Murphy, C. J. *Nano Lett.* **2002**, *2*, 1235.
- (54) Sun, S. H.; Fullerton, E. E.; Weller, D.; Murray, C. B. *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 2001, *37*, 1239.
- (55) Luo, J.; Maye, M. M.; Kariuki, N. N.; Wang, L.; Njoki, P.; Han, L.; Schadt, M.; Lin, Y.; Naslund, H. R.; Zhong, C. J. *Catal. Today* **2005**, *99*, 291.
- (56) Maye, M. M.; Kariuki, N. N.; Luo, J.; Han, L.; Njoki, P.; Wang, L.; Lin, Y.; Naslund, H. R.; Zhong, C. J. *Gold Bull.* **2004**, *37*, 217.
- (57) Kariuki, N. N.; Luo, J.; Hassan, S. A.; Lim, I.-I. S.; Wang, L.; Zhong, C. J. Chem. Mater. 2006, 18, 123.
- (58) Dahl, J. A.; Maddux, B. L. S.; Hutchison, J. E. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107 (6), 2228. Khan, M. I. ChemInform 2003, 34, 255.
- (59) Zhang, D.-F.; Sun, L.-D.; Xu, G.; Yan, C.-H. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2006, 8 (42), 4874. Jitianu, A.; Altindag, Y.; Zaharescu, M.; Wark, M. J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. 2003, 26, 483.
- (60) Pinna, N.; Neri, G.; Antonietti, M.; Niederberger, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4345. Niederberger, M.; Garnweitner, G. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12 (28), 7282. Niederberger, M.; Garnweitner, G.; Buha, J.; Polleux, J.; Ba, J.; Pinna, N. J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. 2006, 40 (2-3), 259.
- (61) Neri, G.; Bonavita, A.; Rizzo, G.; Galvagno, S.; Pinna, N.; Niederberger, M.; Capone, S.; Siciliano, P. Sens. Actuators B 2007, 122, 564.
- (62) Fang, X.; Zhang, L. J. Mater. Sci. Technol. 2006, 22 (1), 1.
- (63) Jitianu, A.; Altindag, Y.; Zaharescu, M.; Wark, M. J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. 2003, 26, 483.
- (64) Grimes, C. A. J. Mater. Chem. 2007, 17, 1451.
- (65) Zhuang, H.-F.; Lin, C.-J.; Lai, Y.-K.; Sun, L.; Li, J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2007, 41, 4735.
- (66) Chai, S. Y.; Kim, Y. S.; Lee, W. I. J. Electroceram. 2006, 17, 323. Liu, X. M.; Wu, S. L.; Chu, P. K.; Zheng, J.; Li, S. L. Mater. Sci. Eng. A 2006, 426, 274.
- (67) Armentrout, P. B. Ann. Rev. Phys. Chem. 2001, 52, 423. Zemski, K. A.; Justes, D. R.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106 (24), 6136.
- (68) Reddy, B. V.; Rasouli, F.; Hajaligol, M. R.; Khanna, S. N. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2004, 384 (4-6), 242.
- (69) Reddy, B. V.; Rasouli, F.; Hajaligol, M. R.; Khanna, S. N. Fuel 2004, 83 (11–12), 1537. Khan, M. I. J. Solid State Chem. 2000, 152 (1), 105.
- (70) Bernstein, E. R.; Matsuda, Y. Toward a Molecular Understanding of Environmental Catalysis: Studies of Metal Oxide Clusters and their Reactions, Environmental Catalysis; Grassian, V. H., Ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, 2005; pp 421–469.
- Reddy, B. V.; Khanna, S. N. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2004**, *93* (6), 068301/
   1-068301/4. Reilly, N. M.; Reveles, J. U.; Johnson, G. E.; Khanna, S. N.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2007**, *111* (20), 4158.
- (72) Reilly, N. M.; Reveles, J. U.; Johnson, G. E.; Khanna, S. N.; Castleman, A. W. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2007, 435 (4–6), 295.
- (73) Huang, X.; Zhai, H.-J.; Kiran, B; Wang, L.-S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44 (44), 7251.
- (74) Li, S.; Dixon, D. A. J. Phys. Chem. A 2006, 110 (19), 6231. Sun, Q.; Sakurai, M.; Wang, Q.; Yu, J. Z.; Wang, G. H.; Sumiyama, K.; Kawazoe, Y. Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys. 2000, 62 (12), 8500.
- (75) Rainer, D. R.; Goodman, D. W. J. Mol. Catal. A 1998, 131 (1-3), 259. Vardhan, D.; Liyanage, R.; Armentrout, P. B. J. Chem. Phys. 2003, 119 (8), 4166. Griffin, J. B.; Armentrout, P. B. J. Chem. Phys. 1997, 107 (14), 5345.
- (76) Moulton, B.; Zaworotko, M. J. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101 (6), 1629.
- (77) Robertson, A.; Shinkai, S. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2000, 205 157.
- (78) Schubert, U. Macromol. Containing Met. Met.-Like Elem. 2006, 7, 55. Schubert, U. J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. 2004, 31 (1-3), 24.
- (79) Malinski, T. In *Porphyrin Handbook*; Kadish, K. M., Smith, K. M., Guilard, R., Eds.; Academic Press: New York, 2000; Vol. 6, Chapter 44.
- (80) Kadish, K.; Smith, K. M.; Guilar, R. The Porphyrin Handbook; Academic Press: New York, 2003; Vols. 15–20.
- (81) Walt, D. R. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2595. Di Natale, C.; Paolesse, R.; Macagnano, A.; Mantini, A.; Goletti, C.; D'Amico, A. Sens. Actuators B 1998, 52, 162.
- (82) Kerp, H. R.; Westerdui, K. T.; van Veen, A. T.; van Faassen, E. E. J. Mater. Res. 2001, 16, 503. Ho, K. C.; Tsou, Y. H. Sens. Actuators B 2001, 77, 253.
- (83) Snow, A. W.; Barger, W. R. In *Phthalocyanines: Properties and Applications*; Lever, A. B. P., Ed.; John Wiley and Sons: New York, 1989; Vol. 1, p 341.
- (84) Lee, Y.-L.; Sheu, C.-Y.; Hsiao, R.-H. Sens. Actuators B 2004, 99, 281.

- (85) Nyokong, T.; Vilakazi, S. *Talanta* 2003, 61, 27. Wen, Z.-H.; Kang, T.-F. *Talanta* 2004, 62, 351.
- (86) Praneeth, V. K. K.; Haupt, E.; Lehnert, N. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2005, 99 (4), 940. Paulat, F.; Lehnert, N. Inorg. Chem. 2007, 46 (5), 1547.
- (87) Gooding, J. J. Nanotechnology in Biology and Medicine; Tuan, V.-D., Ed.; CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, 2007; Vol. 21, pp 1–21.
- (88) Vastarella, W.; Livia, D. S.; Masci, A.; Maly, J.; De Leo, M.; Moretto, L. M.; Pilloton, R. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 2007, 87 (10–11), 701.
- (89) Deore, B.; Nagaoka, T. *Curr. Top. Anal. Chem.* 2001, 2, 135. Shiigi,
  H.; Kijima, D.; Ikenaga, Y.; Hori, K.; Fukazawa, S.; Nagaoka, T. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* 2005, *152* (8), H129–H134. Kriz, D.; Ansell, R. J. *Technol. Instrum. Anal. Chem.* 2001, *23*, 417.
- (90) Wong, E. L. S. Biophys. Rev. Lett. 2007, 2 (2), 167. Odenthal, K. J.; Gooding, J. J. Analyst 2007, 132, 603.
- (91) Pal, P. S.; Sarkar, P. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 2002, 79 (3), 211. Goddard, J. M.; Hotchkiss, J. H. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2007, 32, 698.
- (92) Heller, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23 (5), 128. Lin, C.-L.; Shih, C.-L.; Chau, L.-K. Anal. Chem. 2007, 79 (10), 3757. Barsan, M. M.; Klincar, J.; Batic, M.; Brett, C. M. A. Talanta 2007, 71, 1893. Olea, D.; Moreau, P.; Faure, C. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2007, 605, 125.
- (93) Nagl, S.; Wolfbeis, O. S. Analyst 2007, 132, 507. Ramanathan, M.; Simonian, A. L. Biosens. Bioelectron. 2007, 22, 3001. Bosch, M. E.; Sanchez, A. J. R.; Rojas, F. S.; Ojeda, C. B. Sensors 2007, 7, 797. Passaro, V. M. N.; Dell'Olio, F.; Casamassima, B.; De Leonardis, F. Sensors 2007, 7, 508.
- (94) Yuqing, M.; Jianrong, C.; Xiaohua, W. *Trends Biotechnol.* 2004, 22, 227. Kueng, A.; Kranz, C.; Mizaikoff, B. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 2004, 19, 1301. Zhang, Y.; Lim, C. T.; Ramakrishna, S.; Huang, Z.-M. J. Mater. Sci.: Mater. Med. 2005, 16, 933.
- (95) Han, J. H.; Taylor, J. D.; Kim, D. S.; Kim, Y. S.; Kim, Y. T.; Cha, G. S.; Nam, H. Sens. Actuators B 2007, 123, 384.
- (96) Kim, M. A.; Lee, W.-Y. Anal. Chim. Acta 2003, 479, 143. Wang, G.; Xu, J.-J.; Chen, H.-Y.; Lu, Z.-H. Biosens. Bioelectron. 2003, 18, 335. Shin, J. H.; Marxer, S. M.; Schoenfisch, M. H. Anal. Chem. 2004, 76, 4543. Sotiropoulou, S.; Chaniotakis, N. A. Biomaterials 2005, 26, 6771.
- (97) Yu, T.; Zhang, Y.; You, C.; Zhuang, J.; Wang, B.; Liu, B.; Kang, Y.; Tang, Y. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2006**, *12*, 1137. Shan, W.; Yu, Tao, Wang, B.; Hu, J.; Zhang, X.; Tang, Y. *Chem. Mater.* **2006**, *18*, 3169. Dai, Z.; Fang, M.; Bao, J.; Wang, H.; Lu, T. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2007**, *591*, 195.
- (98) Calvo, E. J.; Wolosiuk, A. *Chem. Phys. Chem.* 2004, *5*, 235. Boozer,
   C.; Ladd, J.; Chen, S.; Yu, Q.; Homola, J.; Jiang, S. *Anal. Chem.* 2004, *76*, 6967. Campuzano, S.; Pedrero, M.; Montemayor, C.; Fatas,
   E.; Pingarron, J. M. *Electrochem. Commun.* 2006, *8*, 299.
- (99) De Paoli, M. A. In Handbook of Organic Conductive Molecules and Polymers; Nalwa, H. S., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1997; Vol. 2.
- (100) Omastova, M.; Pionteck, J.; Kosina, S. Electronic and Optical Properties of Conjugated Molecular Systems in Condensed Phases; Hotta, S., Ed.; Research Signpost: Kerala, India, 2003; pp 153– 186.
- (101) Barra, G. M. O.; Leyva, M. E.; Soares, B. G.; Synth. Met. 2002, 130, 239.
- (102) Lavine, B. K.; Kaval, N.; Westover, D. J.; Oxenford, L. Anal. Lett. 2006, 39 (9), 1773.
- (103) Mirmohseni, A.; Wallace, G. G. Polymer 2003, 44 (12), 3523.
- (104) Aguilar-Hernandez, J.; Skarda, J.; Potje-Kamloth, K. Synth Met. 1998, 95 (3), 197. Bhat, N. V.; Gadre, A. P.; Bambole, V. A. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2001, 80 (13), 2511.
- (105) Segal, E.; Tchoudakov, R.; Mironi-Harpaz, I.; Narkis, M.; Siegmann, A. Polym. Int. 2005, 54 (7), 1065.
- (106) McGovern, S. T.; Spinks, G. M.; Wallace, G. G. Sens. Actuators B 2005, B107 (2), 657.
- (107) Jain, S.; Chakane, S.; Samui, A. B.; Krishnamurthy, V. N.; Bhoraskar, S. V. Sens. Actuators, B 2003, 96 (1-2), 124.
- (108) Matsuguchi, M.; Okamoto, A.; Sakai, Y. Sens. Actuators B 2003, 94, 46.
- (109) Guernion, N.; Ewen R. J.; Pihlainen, K.; Ratcliffe N. M.; Teare, G. C. Synth. Met. 2002, 126 (2–3), 301.
- (110) Ruangchuay, L.; Sirivat, A.; Schwank, J. *React. Funct. Polym.* 2004, 61 (1), 11. Ruangchuay, L.; Sirivat, A.; Schwank, J. *Talanta* 2003, 60 (1), 25.
- (111) Hong, K. H.; Oh, K. W.; Kang, T. J. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2004, 92, 37.
- (112) Watcharaphalakorn, S.; Ruangchuay, L.; Chotpattananont, D.; Sirivat, A.; Schwank, J. Polym. Int. 2005, 4 (8), 1126.
- (113) Ruangchuay, L.; Sirivat, A.; Schwank, J. *React. Funct. Polym.* 2004, 61 (1), 11. Ruangchuay, L.; Sirivat, A.; Schwank, J. *Talanta* 2003, 60 (1), 25–30.
- (114) Grulke, E. A. Solubility Parameter Values. In *Polymer Handbook*, 3rd ed.; Brandrup, J., Immergut, E. H., Eds.; Wiley: New York, 1989; pp VII/519.

- (115) Cooper, H.; Segal, E.; Srebnik, S.; Tchoudakov, R.; Narkis, M.; Siegmann, A. *Polym. Adv. Technol.* **2004**, *15* (10), 573. Huang, Y.-J.; Hsieh, T.-Y.; Wang, Y.-Z.; Chuang, Ch.-N.; Chen, Ya.-P.; Huang, P.-T.; Ho, K.-S. J. *Polym. Sci.* **2007**, *104* (2) 773.
- (116) Dai, L; Soundarrajan, P.; Kim, T. Pure Appl. Chem. 2002 74 (9), 1753, Lukaszewicz, J. P. Sens. Lett. 2006, 4, 53.
- (117) Zimer, A. M.; Bertholdo, R.; Grassi, M. T.; Zarbin, A. J. G.; Mascaro, L. H. Electrochem. Commun. 2003, 5, 983.
- (118) Baibarac, M.; Baltog, I.; Lefrant, S.; Mevellec, J. V.; Chauvet, O. *Chem. Mater.* **2003**, *15*, 4149. Baibarac, M.; Gomez-Romero, P. J. *Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* **2006**, *6* (2), 289.
- (119) Ramamurthy, P. C.; Harrell, W. R.; Gregory, R. V.; Rao, A. M. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2007, 154 (6), H495.
- (120) Kumar, J.; Singh, R. K.; Kumar, V.; Rastogi, R. C.; Singh, R. Diamond Relat. Mater. 2007, 16 (3), 446.
- (121) Viswanathan, G.; Chakrapani, N.; Yang, H.; Wei, B.; Chung, H.; Cho, K.; Ryu, C. Y.; Ajayan, P. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 9258.
- (122) Philip, B.; Xie, J. N.; Chandrasekhar, A.; Abraham, J.; Varadan, V. K. Smart Mater. Struct. 2004, 13 (2), 295.
- (123) Yan, X. B.; Han, Z. J.; Yang, Y.; Tay, B. K. J. Phys. Chem. C 2007, 111 (11), 4125.
- (124) Wanna, Y.; Srisukhumbowornchai, N.; Tuantranont, A.; Wisitsoraat, A.; Thavarungkul, N.; Singjaic, P. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 2006, 6 (12), 3893
- (125) An, K. H.; Jeong, S. Y.; Hwang, H. R.; Lee, Y. H. Adv. Mater. 2004, 16, 1005.
- (126) Zeng, J; Gao, X; Wei, W.; Zhai, X.; Yin, J.; Wu, L.; Liu, X.; Liu, K.; Gong, S. Sens. Actuators B 2007, 120, 595.
- (127) Santhanam, K. S. V.; Sangoi, R.; Fuller, L. Sens. Actuators B 2005, 106 (2), 766.
- (128) Ma, X.; Zhang, X.; Li, Y.; Wang, M.; Chen, H.; Mi, Y. Macromol. Mater. Eng. 2006, 291, 75.
- (129) Kim, S.; Lee, H. R. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2007, 91, 093126.
- (130) Qi, P.; Vermesh, O.; Grecu, M; Wang, Q.; Dai, H.; Peng, S.; Cho, K. J. *Nano Lett.* **2003**, *3* (3), 347. Snow, E. S.; Perkins, F. K.; Robinson, J. A. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2006**, *35*, 790.
- (131) Tang, Q; Luo, X.; Wen, R. Anal. Lett. 2005, 38, 1445.
- (132) Lin, Y.; Cui, X. J. Mater. Chem. 2006, 585.
- (133) Ge, C. H.; Armstrong, N. R.; Saavedra, S. S. Anal. Chem. 2007, 79, 1401.
- (134) Ferrer-Anglada, N.; Kaempgen, M.; Roth, S. Phys. Status Solidi B 2006, 243 (13), 3519.
- (135) Li, Y.; Wang, P.; Wang, L.; Lin X. Biosens. Bioelectron. 2007, 22, 3120.
- (136) Kian Ping, L.; Sheng Liang, Z; Wei De, Z. *Diamond Relat. Mater.* **2004**, *13* (4–8), 1075.
- (137) Ma, Y.; Ali, S. R.; Dodoo, A. S.; He, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 16359. Ali, S. R.; Ma, Y.; Parajuli, R. R.; Balogun, Y.; Lai, W. Y.-C.; He, H. Anal. Chem. 2007, 79, 2583.
- (138) Xu, Y.; Ye, X.; Yang, L.; He, P.; Fang, Y. *Electroanalysis* **2006**, *18* (15), 1471.
- (139) Muraviev, D. N.; Macanas, J.; Farre, M.; Munoz, M.; Alegret, S. Sens. Actuators B 2006, 118, 408. Muraviev, D. N.; Pividory, M. I.; Soto, J. L. M.; Alegret, S. Solv. Extract. Ion Exchange 2006, 24, 731.
- (140) Li, H. S.; Josowicz, M.; Baer, D. R.; Engelhard, M. H.; Janata, J. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1995, 142 (3), 798.
- (141) Kinyanjui, J. M.; Hanks, J.; Hatchett D. W.; Smith, A. J.; Josowicz, M. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2004, 151, D113. O'Mullane, A. P.; Dale, S. E.; Day, T. M.; Wilson, N. R.; Macpherson, J. V.; Unwin, P. R. J. Solid State Electrochem. 2006, 10, 792. Niu, L.; Li, Q.; Wei, F.; Wu, S.; Liu, P.; Cao, X. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2005, 578, 331.
- (142) Grace, A. N.; Pandian, K. *Electrochem. Commun.* 2006, *8*, 1340.
  Amaya, T.; Saio, D.; Hirao, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2007, *48*, 2729.
  Baranton, S.; Coutanceau, C.; Leger, J.-M. Roux, C.; Capron, P. *Electrochim. Acta* 2005, *51*, 517. Bian, C.; Yu, Y.; Xue, G. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2007, *104*, 21.
- (143) Kinyanjui, J. M.; Hanks, J.; Hatchett, D. W. Macromolecules 2004, 37, 8745. Selvakannan, P. R.; Mandal, S.; Pasricha, R.; Sastry, M. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2004, 279, 124. Guo, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Huang, L.; Wang, M.; Wang, J.; Sun, J.; Xu, L.; Gu, N. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2007, 309, 518.
- (144) Selaraj, V.; Alagar, M.; Hamerton, I. Appl. Catal. B 2007, 73, 172.
  Selvaraj, V.; Alagar, M. Electrochem. Commun. 2007, 9, 1145.
  Choudary, B. M.; Roy, M.; Roy, S.; Kantam, M. L.; Sreedhar, B.; Kumar, K. V. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 1734.
- (145) Mascaro, L. H.; Gonçalves, D.; Bulhões, L. O. S. *Thin Solid Films* 2004, 461, 243.

- (146) He, Z.-Q; Liu, W.-P.; Xiong, W.-P.; Shu, L.-Z.; Shu, H.; Wu, X.-M.; Chen, S.; Huang, K.-L. *Wuji Huanxue Xuebao* **2007**, *23*, 813. Luo, J.; Huang, H.; Lin, Z.; Hepal, M. ACS Symp. Ser. **2003**, *832*, 113.
- (147) Varela, H.; Bruno, R. L.; Torresi, R. M. Polymer 2003, 44, 5369.
   Lin, C.-L.; Lee, C.-C.; Ho, K.-C. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2002, 81, 524 525.
- (148) Dawson, A.; Kamat, P. V. J. Phys. Chem. B 2001, 105, 960.
- (149) Englebienne, P.; Hoonacker, A. V. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2005, 292, 445.
- (150) Smith, A. J.; Josowicz, M.; Engelhard, M.; Baer, D. R.; Janata, J. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2005, 7 (20), 3619.
- (151) Min, B. K.; Friend, C. M. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107 (6), 2709.
- (152) Shin, H. J.; Hwang, I. W.; Hwang, Y. N.; Kim, D.; Han, S. H.; Lee, J. S.; Cho, G. J. Phys. Chem. B 2003, 107, 4699.
- (153) Smith, A. J.; Josowicz, M.; Janata, J. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2003, 150, E384.
- (154) Kinyanjui, J. M.; Hatchett, D. W.; Smith, A. J.; Josowicz, M. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 3390. Mallick, K.; Witcomb, M. J.; Dinsmore, A.; Scurrell, M. S. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2005, 26, 232. Guo, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Huang, L.; Wang, M.; Wang, J.; Sun, J.; Xu, L.; Gu, N. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2007, 309, 518. Mallick, K.; Witcomb, M. J.; Scurrell, M. S. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2007, 19, 1.
- (155) Huang, K.; Zhang, Y.; Long, Y.; Yuan, J.; Han, D.; Wang, Z.; Niu, L.; Chen, Z. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12 (20), 5314.
- (156) Hatchett, D. W.; Josowicz, M.; Baer, D.; Janata, J. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 2989. Chen, W.; Li, C. M.; Chen, P.; Sun, C. Q. Electrochim. Acta 2007, 52, 2845.
- (157) Patton, D.; Locklin, J.; Meredith, M.; Xin, Y.; Advincula, R. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16 (24), 5063.
- (158) Do, J.-S.; Chang, W.-B. Sens. Actuators B 2001, 72, 101. Do, J.-S.; Chang, W.-B. Sens. Acuators B 2004, 101, 97.
- (159) Bonfil, Y.; Brand, M.; Kirowa-Eisner, E. Anal. Chim. Acta 1999, 395, 85. Wang, J.; Tian, B. Anal. Chem. 1993, 65, 1529. Wang, J.; Tian, B. Anal. Chim. Acta 1993, 274, 1.
- (160) Chowdhury, A.-N.; Ferdousi, S.; Islam, M. M.; Okajima, T. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2007, 104, 1306.
- (161) Aslan, K.; Zhang, J.; Lakowicz, J.; Geddes, C. D. J. Fluoresc. 2004, 14, 391.
- (162) Ma, Y.; Li, N.; Yang, C.; Yang, X. Colloids Surf. A 2005, 269, 1. Grace, A.; Pandian, K. Colloids Surf. A 2007, 302, 113.
- (163) Xian, Y.; Liu, F.; Xian, Y.; Wang, H.; Jin, L. Biosens. Bioelectron. 2006, 21, 1996.
- (164) Granot, E.; Katz, E.; Basnar, B.; Willner, I. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 4600.
- (165) Haes, A. J.; Stuart, D. A.; Nie, S.; Van Duyne, R. P. J. Fluoresc. 2004, 14, 355.
- (166) Andersen, G. P.; Merrick, E. C.; Trammell, S. A.; Chinowsky, T. M.; Shenoy, D. K. *Sens. Lett.* **2005**, *3*, 151. Dutra, R. F.; Mendes, R. K.; da Silva, V. L.; Kubota, L. T. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. **2007**, *43*, 1744.
- (167) Farré, M.; Martinez, E.; Ramón, J.; Navarro, A.; Radjenovic, J.; Mauriz, E.; Lechuga, L.; Marco, M. P.; Barceló, D. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2007, 388, 207.
- (168) Leroux, Y.; Eang, E.; Fave, C.; Trippe, G.; Lacroix, J. C. *Electrochem. Commun.* 2007, 9, 1258.
- (169) Ford, M. J.; Masens, C.; Cortie, M. B. Surf. Rev. Lett. 2006, 13 (2-3), 297.
- (170) Dubrovsky, T. B. In Protein Architecture: Interfacing Molecular Assemblies and Immobilization Biotechnology; Lvov, Y., Mohwald, H., Eds.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, 2000; pp 25–54.
- (171) Bearinger, J. P.; Tterretaz, S.; Michel, R., Tirelli, N.; Vogel, H.; Textor, M.; Hubbell, J. A. *Nat. Mater.* **2003**, *2*, 259.
- (172) Gooding, J. J.; Mearns, F.; Yang, W.; Liu, J. *Electroanalysis* 2003, 15, 81.
- (173) Hatchett, D. W.; Wijeratne, R.; Kinyanjui, J. M. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2006, 593, 203.
- (174) Andreev, V. N.; Matveev, V. V.; Pisarev, S. A. Russ. J. Electrochem. 2006, 42 (9), 974.
- (175) Mallick, K.; Witcomb, M. J.; Dinsmore, A.; Scurrell, M. S. Langmuir 2005, 21, 7964.
- (176) Park, J.-E.; Park, S.-G.; Koukitu, A.; Hatozaki, O.; Oyama, N. Synth. Met. 2004, 141, 265.
- (177) O'Mullane, A. P.; Dale, S. E.; Day, T. M.; Wilson, N. R.; MalCPherson, J. V.; Unwin, P. R. J. Solid State Electrochem. 2006, 10, 792. Venancio, E. C.; Napporn, W. T.; Motheo, A. J. Electrochim. Acta 2002, 47, 1495. Niu, L.; Li, Q.; Wei, F.; Wu, S.; Liu, P.; Cao, X. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2005, 578, 331.
- (178) Andreev, V. N. Russ. J. Electrochem. 2006, 42, 1936.
- (179) Drelinkiewicz, A.; Hasik, M.; Kloc, M. Catal. Lett. 2000, 64, 41. Mourato, A.; Wong, S. M.; Siegenthaler, H.; Abrantes, L. M. J. Solid Sstate Electrochem. 2006, 10, 140. Amaya, T.; Saio, D.; Hirao, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 2729.

- (180) Liu, Y.-C.; Hwang, B.-J.; Tzeng, I.-J. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2002, 149, H173.
- (181) Sakthivel, M.; Weppner, W. Ionics 2005, 11, 177.
- (182) Athawale, A. A.; Bhagwat, S. V.; Katre, P. P. Sens. Actuators B 2006, 114, 263.
- (183) Guo, M.; Pan, M.; Chen, J.; Mi, Y.; Zhang, X.; Chen, Y. Fenxi Huaxue 2006, 34, 1755.
- (184) Atashbar, M. Z.; Banerji, D.; Singamaneni, S.; Bliznyuk, V. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 2005, 427, 217.
- (185) Ji, X.; Banks, C. E.; Holloway, A. F.; Jurkschat, K.; Thorogood, C. A.; Wildgoose, G. G.; Compton, R. G. *Electroanalysis* **2006**, *18*, 2481.
- (186) Zhou, H.; Chen, H.; Luo, S.; Chen, J.; Wei, W.; Kuang, Y. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2005**, *20*, 1305. Hong, N. X.; Luo, S.; Wei, W.; Kuang, Y. *Fenxi Huaxue* **2004**, *32*, 1445.
- (187) Sharma, S.; Nirkhe, C.; Pethkar, S.; Athawale, A. Sens. Actuators B 2002, 85, 131.
- (188) Chowdhury, A.-N.; Islam, M. S.; Azam, M. S. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2007, 103, 321.
- (189) Chowdhury, A. N.; Islam, M. S.; Azam, M. S. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2007, 103, 321.
- (190) Trung, T.; Trung, T. H.; Ha, C.-S. *Electrochim. Acta* **2005**, *51* (5), 984.
- (191) Damian, A.; Omanovic, S. J. Power Sources 2006, 158 (1), 464.
- (192) Park, I.-S.; Kim, K.-J. Sens. Actuators A 2007, 135, 220.
- (193) Mohammadi, M. R.; Fray, D. J.; Cordero-Cabrera, M. C. Sens. Actuators B 2007, 124, 74.
- (194) Schnitzler, D. C.; Meruvia, M. S.; Humelgen, I. A.; Zarbin, A. J. G. Chem. Mater. 2003, 15, 4658.
- (195) Ram, M. K.; Yavuz, Õ.; Lahsangah, V.; Aldissi, M. Sens. Actuators B 2005, 106, 750.
- (196) Ram, M. K.; Yavuz, O.; Aldissi, Mt. Synth. Met. 2005, 151, 77.
- (197) Erades, L.; Grandjean, D.; Nayral, C.; Soulantica, K.; Chaudret, B.; Menini, P.; Parret, F.; Maisonnat, A. New J. Chem. 2006, 30, 1026.
- (198) Vijayanathan, V.; Venkatachalam, S.; Krishnamurthy, V. N. Synth. Met. 2000, 114, 273.
- (199) Varela, H.; Bruno, R. L.; Torresi, R. M. Polymer 2003, 44, 5369.
- (200) Saravanan, S.; Anantharaman, M. R.; Venkatachalam, S. Mater. Sci. Eng. B 2006, 135, 113.
- (201) Zucolotto, V.; Ferreira, M.; Cordeiro, M. R.; Constantino, C. J. L.; Moreira, W. C.; Oliveira, O. N., Jr. Sens. Actuators B 2006, 113, 809.
- (202) Miras, M. C.; Badano, A.; Bruno, M. M.; Barbero, C. Port. Electrochim. Acta 2003, 21 (3), 235.
- Malhotra, B. D.; Chaubey, A.; Singh, S. P. Anal. Chim. Acta 2006, 578 (1), 59. Wei, D.; Ivaska, A. Chem. Anal. 2006, 51 (6), 839. Ramanaviciene, A.; Ramanavicius, A. A Crit. Rev. Anal. Chem. 2002, 32 (3), 245.
- (204) Malhortra, B. D.; Chaubey, A.; Singh, S. P. Anal. Chim. Acta 2006, 578, 59.
- (205) Ramanavicius, A.; Ramanaviciene, A.; Malinauskas, A. Electrochim. Acta 2006, 51 (27), 6025.
- (206) Low, L. M.; Seetharaman S.; He, K. Q.; Madou, M. J. Sens. Actuators B 2006, 67 (1-2), 149. Entezami, A. A.; Massoumi, B. Iranian Polym. J. 2006, 15 (1), 13. Otero, T. Proc. SPIE 2005, 5839, 286.
- (207) Xu, X. H.; Ren, G. L.; Cheng, J.; Liu, Q.; Li, D. G. J. Mater. Sci 2006, 41, 3147.
- (208) Pandy, R. S. S.; Takashima, W.; Kaneto, K. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2004, 93, 927. Li, X.; Sun, C. Anal. Chem. 2005, 60, 1073.
- (209) Singh, S.; Solanki, P. R.; Pandey, M. K.; Malhotra, B. D. Anal. Chim. Acta 2006, 568, 126. Singh, S.; Solanki, P. R.; Pandey, M. K.; Malhotra, B. D. Sens. Actuators B 2006, 115, 534.
- (210) Jiang, Y.; Wang, A.; Kan, J. Sens. Actuators B 2007, 124, 529.
- (211) Arora, K.; Sumana, G.; Saxena, V.; Gupta, R. K.; Gupta, S. K.; Yakhmi, J. V.; Pandey, M. K.; Chand, S.; Malhotra, B. D. Anal. Chim. Acta 2007, 594, 17.
- (212) Walter, E. C.; Penner, R. M.; Liu, H.; Ng, K. H.; Zach, M. P.; Favier, F. Surf. Interface Anal. 2002, 34, 409.
- (213) Kolmakov, A.; Zhang, Y. X.; Cheng, G. S.; Moskovits, M. Adv. Mater. 2003, 15, 997. Kolmakov, A.; Moskovits, M. Annu. Rev. Mater. Res. 2004, 34, 151. Zhang, Y.; Kolmakov, A.; Chretien, S.; Metiu, H.; Moskovits, M. Nano Lett. 2004, 4, 403. Zhang, Y.; Kolmakov, A.; Lilach, Y.; Moskovits, M. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 1923.
- (214) Fan, Z. Y.; Lu, J. G. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2005, 86, 123510. Li, Q. H.; Liang, Y. X.; Wan, Q.; Wang, T. H. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2004, 85, 6389.
- (215) Zhang, Y. S.; Yu, K.; Jiang, D. S.; Zhu, Z. Q.; Geng, H. R.; Luo, L. Q. Appl. Surf. Sci. 2005, 242, 212.
- (216) Ozin, G.; Arsenault, A. Nanochemistry: A Chemical Approach to Nanomaterials; RSC Publishing: Cambridge, 2005.

- (217) Kiely, C. J.; Fink, J.; Hutchinson, T.; Zheng, J. G.; Brust, M.; Bethell, D.; Schiffrin, D. J. *Elect. Micro. Anal.* **1999**, *161*, 515.
  (218) Panda, A. B.; Glaspell, G.; El-Shall, M. S. J. Phys. Chem. C **2007**,
- 111 (5), 1861.
- (219) Panda, A. B.; Glaspell, G.; El-Shall, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, (21) Funda, N. D., Olaspin, G., D. Bhan, N. S. J. Thu. Oct. 100 (200) 128 (9), 2790.
  (220) Pradhan, N.; Efrima, S. J. Phys. Chem. B 2004, 108 (32), 11964.

- (221) Rogach, A. L.; Talapin, D. V.; Shevchenko, E. V.; Kornowski, A.; Haase, M.; Weller, H. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2002, 12 (10), 653.
- (222) Tenne, R. J. Mater. Res. 2006, 21 (11), 2726. Tenne, R. Chem. Nanostruct. Mater. 2003, 147.
- (223) Tenne, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42 (42), 5124.

CR068112H